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T h u r s d a y , 1 9 December, 194-6 

INTERNATIONAL IIILITARY TRIBUNAL 
FOR THE FAR E",ST 

Court House of the Tribunal 
War Hinistry Building 

Tokyo, Japan 

The Tribunal met, pursuant to adjournment, 

at 0930. 

Appearances: 

For the Tribunal,same as before with 

the exception of： HONORABLE JUSTICE D. JARANILL;” 

I.
1

 ember from the Republic of the Philippines, not 

sitting, 

the Prosecution Section, sare as before, 

the Defense Section, ssre as before. 

For 

For 

The Accused: 

All 

represented by 

present except OKIrJA, Shinnei, who is 

his counsel. 

(English to Japanese and Japanese 

to English interpretation was made by the 

Language Section,ェIiTFE.) 
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MARSHAL OF THE COURT: The International 

Military Tribimal for the Far East is now in session. 

THE PRESIDENT? Mr, Justice Mansfield. 

MR。 JUSTICE MAFSFIEID: If the Tribunal 

please, continuing with the reading of exhibit Nc. 

1630 at page 12, the excerpt dated the 8th of 

February, 194-3； 

"The most brutal and severe beating up 

as yet. Eight Taiwan soldiers entered the Officers' 

Bi]let and made straight for Captain に Sewell, 

M.C.R.A. They proceeded, each in turn, to beat him 

for an hour in all, and finished up with a sentry 

with a rifle using the butt end and hitting him on 

the head with the bayonet. The Officer concerned 

was in a very bad way when this beating was finished." 

Then proceeding to the excerpt
v
 the 18th 

of February, 1943: 

"Inspection of commodities in the camp. 

All Taiwan soldiers appeared with sticks and beat 

up all the sick men in camp. In the afternoon a 

party which wc.s going outside to work was passing 

through the camp gates when Gnr, Bilham fell out 

to fasten his shoelace. By the time he had finished 

this the party had gone and'the gates were closed. 

10 minutes later the party returned, and the Jap 
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Officer, ir a terrible rage, sent for Gnr, Bilham, 

who was immediately knocked senseless by Taiwan 

guards. The Personnel Administrator went out to 

argue with the Jap Officer re this and pointed out 

that no matter what the man had done, there was no 

excuse for such brutal and inhuman treatment. 

Eventually^ the Personnel Administrator was allowed 

to take Gnr. Bilham back into the Office and that 

evening the Jap Officer made a half-hearted apology." 

Then turning to the rext page, the excerpt 

for the 5th of March, 1943? 

"General from Prisoners of War Information 

Bureau came to the camp. No Prisoner was allowed 

to speak to him." 

Prosecution document numbered 5170B, the 

affidavit of W.O.I. J,0. EDWARDS, is offered for 

identification. 

CLERK OF TKL CCUET: Prosecution's document 

No.ヲ170—B will receive exhibit No. 1631 for 

identification only. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1(31 for identification.) 

MR。 JUSTICE MANSFIELD: The marked excerpts 

are produced in evidence. 
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THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLEFK OF THE COURTs The marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document number, will 

deceive exhibit No。 —A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred tc was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1631-A and received ir evidence.) 

H JUSTICE 歸 S K E E L D : This document states 

that the witness arrived at K I M A S E K I Camp, where 

1,200 men commenced work in the coppcr mines. The 

workings were unbearably hot, and dangerously without 

safeguards. Every man who worked in the mines has 

scr.rs as £ result of tbe conditions and accidents. 

Hot acid water dripped from low roofs, holes in 

the grounds were unguarded. 

-Men who failed to complete the day's task 

were beater with the shaft of hammers, three feet 

long and inches thick. Men were beaten into 

insensibility and kicked. 

Food was inadequate as were medicines and 

drugs. Eighty-seven men djad at KINIL.SEKI. 

In May, 194-5, the camp moved to KOKOTSU. 

Ccrditions here were dreadful, food reached starvation 

level, the camp had to he built by the men themselves 

and food and materials brought up daily by men worn 
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and exhausted from long travail,, over eight miles 

of rough ；jungle track. 

After the war was over on August 27，. the 

camp moved, to TAIHOKU,.. No provision was made for 

the sick. Weakened men had to carry the sick them-

selves on "bamboo stretchers under a blazing sun. 

Two men died on the journey. 

Prosecution document numbered 5187, the 

sworn testimony of Sergeant J. L. MAPSエMINO, is 

produced for identification. 

CLERK OF THE COURT； P r o s e c u t i o n ^ docuir.ent 

5187 will receive exhibit Ko„ 1632 for identification 

only. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No, 1632 for identification.) 

腿。JUSTICE MMfSFIEID s The marked excerpts 

therein being offered in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT^ Adiritted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT; The marked excerpts 

therefrom, bearing the same document mamber, will 

receive exhibit No. 1632-A, 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No。 1632-A and received in evidence.) 
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腿。JUSTICE MANSFIELD: This document 

states that the witness went to HAITO Camp in 

December, 1944, remaining there for two months. 

Men were thrown into a water trough and 

their heads held under water, under the direction 

of the Camp Commandant。 They were then stripped 

and beaten. A number o the men died of brain fever 

in the camp. The Commandant assembled all the 

prisoners of war one day and asked how many men 

had the violent headaches which was the s^irptom of 

the "brain fever. Fifty or sixty men raised their 

hands, whereupon the Japanese remarked that he had 

a big cemetery and he would try very had to fill it. 

The prisoners of war were then dismissed. 

That co卿letes, if the Tribunal please, 

tl"‘e evidence with regard to Formosa. 

I present to the Tribunal at this stage 

Lieutenant Colonel Mornane of Australia who will 

continue to conduct the prosecution's case. 

THE PRESIDENT: Colonel Mornane. 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNAKE: If the Tribunal 

pleases, I tender prosecution document. 5448, which 

is a synopsis of sea transportation evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 
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No. 5448 will receive exhibit No. 1633. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1633 and received ir evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL M O R N A N E I now propose to 

introduce evidence in supr>ort of the seventh section 

of this phase. This section relates to treatment 

of prisoners of war and civilian internees by the 

Japanese in the course of transportation by sea. 

This evidence consists of tTi/enty affidavits. I 

also refer the Tribunal to evidence already given 

hv various witnesses, and the evidence that will be 

given by subsequent witnesses in other sections of 

this ^hase insofar as it relates to such treatment. 

I tender for identification I.P.S. document 

No. 5232. This is an affidavit made jointly by 

Serjeant Raymond C. Bichardson and Technical Sergeant 

John G. Murdach both of the United States Army Air 

Corps. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF THT： CCUHT: That is presented for 

identification? 

LITLUT。COLONEL MORNANE: Yes. 

I CLERK OF THE COURT; Prosecution's document 

I No. 5232 will receive exhibit No. 1634- for . 
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identification only. ‘ 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

N o . 1 6 3 4 for identification.) 

THE PRESIDENT: The excerpt is admitted. 

LIEUT。 COLONEL MORNANE: I offer in evi-

dence those parts of the affidavit which have been 

translated. They are indicated on the left-hand 

margin of the document. 

CLERK. C.F THE COURT: The excerpts there-

from, bearing the same document number, will receive 

exhibit No. 1634-A. 

(V'/hercupon the document above re-

ferred to waf marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

No. 1634-A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT。 COLONEL MORNAKE: The affidavit 

shews that on 2nd of October, 194-2, about nineteen 

hundred American prisoners of war were forced into 

two large holds ard one small hold of the Tottori 

Maru at Manila. They were so tightly packed that 

only three-quarters oデ the prisoners could lie 

down at once. The ventilation was absolutely in-

adequate. Six latrines only were allotted for the 

use of nineteen hiardred men most of whom were suffer-

ing from dysentery. The daily ration was six soda 
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crackers and a canteer of water. After eight days 

the ship reached Froroosa where a number of Japanese 

troops disembarked. As a result the prisoners had 

rrore room but were still overcrowded; and three more 

latrines were nade available. The ration was in-

creased by a dish of rice per man per day. No 

medical supplies or facilities were made available 

thrcughout the journey which ended at Osaka on 

11 Fovember 1942. Fifteen prisoners of v;ar died 

as a result of the conditions on the ship and the 

lack cf medical supplies. 
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I now offer IPS document l-io. 5234 for 

identification and excerpts marked therein in evi-

dence « This is an affidavit made by Captain Edv/ard 

i.. N e l l , a n American medical officer . 

TKii PKjjSlLliA
r

T i Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLSKK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

Ko. 5234- will receive exhibit Ho. 1635 for identifi-

cation only
9
 and the marked excerpt therefrom bearing 

the same document number will receive exhibit No.1635-ぶ 

( レ . h e r e u p o n , prosecution' s document 

No. 5234 was marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1635 ？or identification, the excerpts therefrom 

being marked prosecution's exhibit lio.1635-A 

and received in evidence.) 

LI—_UT.し0LG. l“L LL。hhAKS:エ propose to read 

this document from the foot of the first page: 

"On 7 Nov. 1942 エ sailed from Pier 7, Manila, 

with 1650 POW and 1500 to 2000 Japanese soldiers, 

"we were on Nagato Maru, a Japanese freighter of 

aporoximately 4 or 5000 tons. The POW were on the 

bottom deck of each of the 3 holds. We were extremely 

crowded, most had standing room only. The Jap sol-

diers occupied the upper -decks in each hold. The 

Americans were not allowed on deck for two days' after 

we sailed. The air was foul, many lost consciousness. 
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We had one canteen cup of water per day per man. 

The morning meal was about 200 grams of rice and a 

soup of fermented bean paste. The evening meal was 

about the same amount of rice' and a small quantity of 

fish, about 20 grams. We received no medicine for 

the sick at all. Host men who were ill wore suf-

fering from illness caused by deficient diet, dia-

rrhea , b e r i - b e r i , protein edema &nd malaria, Be~ 

ginning about 9 Nov. approximately 40 men ^rom each 

hold, were allowed on deck for periods of an hour. 

There weru latrines on deck but the men with bowel 

disorder often were unable to get to the deck. For 

3 days there was no sanitary facilities below decks 

but then we stole some buckets which wc were able to 

empty. There was some mistreatment of POW in the after 

l)old as kicking an、 beating men when the Japs wore 

going after supplies that were stored there. 

"Beginning Nov. 9 they allowed me to bring the 

severely sick on dock to an imprcvised sick bay. I 

repeatedly requested medicine from Lt. ilUKATA and 

Sgt. HOSHINO. Both Jap Army medicf：! men. I don't 

know their first names. Thoy never supplied any 

medicine.. These two Japs had no outstanding 

characteristics. I'm not sure I could identify thc-m 

now. On about 12 Nov. the convoy we were in was ^ired 



on by a submarine。 Our ship was not hit. There w^re 

no distinguishing markings on our ship. 

"Tho extreme physical discomfort of the men . 

csuscd a complete breakdown of morale, they snarled 

at each other, quarreled and insulted officers for 

no reason. Hunger was so extreme that they asked 

for the loft overs of the Japanese meals. Vv'e arrived 

at Moji 25 i^ov. 194-2. 

"The following men died at sea as a result of 

the combination of factors prevalent on the ship. 

All v*ere able bodied men when we got on the ship. 

"Wood, William K . 1 s t L t . 24th FA. Lied 

11/7/42. Born 6/3/15- Cause of dea,th beri-beri 

myocarditis. uanca, hichard R., 2nd L t . 1 9 2 n d Tank 

Eattalion. Pie w&s born 10/23/16. Cause of death 

starvation and generalized sepsis --

THE PRESIDENT: It isn't n.cessary to 

read those names。 

LIEUT, COLONEL M 0 R M 1 ® : Altogether, eight 

men died, two from starvation and generalized sepsis； 

two from chronic diarrhea; two from chronic diarrhea 

and pellegra, one from beri-beri myocarditis, and one 

from chronic starvation and chronic diarrhea. (Reading): 
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"V/hen we arrivoci at Iuoji the temperature was 

about 45 degrees F with a high wind. We were made to 

lino up naked on deck before all the people on the 

dock while the Japanese took a specimen from cach 

rectum. This exposure- to public gazes was unwarranted, 

"I rin a medical officer anc the diagnosis of the 

illness and causes of death are correct to the best 

of my knowledge without benefit of clinical or 

laboratory assistance." 

I now offer IPS document Ko. 5ニ、07 for 

identification and tender the marked excerpts thereof 

in evidence. 

THE PHSSIDENT: Admitted on the usur.l terms. 

CLEKK OF THE COUEiT: Prosecution's document 

i'io. 5307 Vvill be exhibit l\o. 1636, The marked exccrpt 

boering ti.e same document number will receive exhibit 

No. 1636-A. 

(Whereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 5307 was marked prosecution
1

s exhibit No. 

1636 for identification, the excerpt therefrom 

being marked prosecution's exhibit I'io. I636-A 

and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORKAKE: This is an af-

fidavit made by Technical Sergeant Clyde P. Sullivan 

of the U.S.Army. I will now read marked excorpts of 
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this document: 

"エ am T/Sgt. ky permanent home address is 

5403 Florida Avenue, Tampa, Florida. I was captured 

by Japanese infantry on Mindanao Island, P.I., in a 

general surrender on 10 Mey 1942. After beinp： con-

fined in the Philippine Islands until July 194-4, 

when I s transferred by ship to Japan in a trip 

which Ir sted until 3 September 1944-. 

"The prisoners of war were not provided with 

proper medical care, food or quarters in this ship 

during the trip. 

"Approximately 1200 prisoners, divided into 600 

men for each hold, were crowded into the ship so 

closely that 400 would hrve to stand in shifts so 

that the other 200 could sleep. This condition 

lasted for over 20 days until we reached Gebu. The 

sanitary facilities were insufficient and consisted 

only of a bucket holding 5 gclions for 600 nen. The 

only medical supplies available were those vhich one 

of our own doctors brought with him, and these were 

raosger and insufficient, because the men were suf-

fering from sores, beri-beri, malaria, malnutrition 

ulcers, diarrhea, and many other diseases. The food 

available consisted only of 400 grams of rice per 

day per man, which v^s about one pint, after it h<:d 
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been cooked. All the men lost from 20 to 40 pounds 

during the trip. He were weighed at the beginning 

こ..nd end of the trip and I, myself, lost 33 pounds. 

The air was foul and the heat while confined in the 

hold was so intense that men were overcome. Three 

men died from the existing conditions during the 

trip. We received one pint of water per doy, which 

was insufficient because of the heat and close con-

finement . P r o t e s t s made by the ranking officer, 

Colonel Stubbs
9
 were ignored." 

THE PLESIDHim：: Well, you are no longer 

reeding a synopsis. You are reading excerpts from 

the affidavit. Synopsis is a misnomer in the case 

of exhibit K o . 1 6 3 3 . 

LIEUT. COLONEL M O ^ M N E : My next document, 

an affidavit made by Master Sergeant Arthur Li. 

Baclauski of the U.S.Army, is IPS document No. 5194. 

エ tender this document for identification, ana tender 

the marked excerpts of the document in evidence. 

THE FRiSIDENTi Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COUxiT: Prosecution's document 

!Jo. 5194 will receive exhibit No. 1637 for identifi-

cation only, snd the marked excerpt therefrom bearing 

the sane document number will receive exhibit Ko. 

163 7-A. 
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(V/hereupon, prosecution's document 

l 
No. 5194 was marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

2 1 
1637 for identification， the excerpt therefrom 

3 

being marked prosecution's exhibit No. 1637-A 

r
 and received in evidence.) 

r
、 THE PRSSIDiiNTs There is no reason that we 

- c a n see for departing from the practice of yesterday 

8
 and the preceding days. This material is- no more 

o important than the materiel that wps made the subject 

1 0
 of a genuine synopsis or synopses。 The new method 

n
 I involves a gro?t expenditure in tine. 

12 LIEUT. COLOIfflL 通 謎 E : . President, I 

13 may say that there are only twenty affidavits and 

14 the material in most of them is so well expressed 

15 that it would be very hard to shorten it and to 
1 6 :

 place before --
1 7

 THE PI〔ESII^NT: That is not a satisfactory 

explanation, because you are going into a lot of 

details vre don't wr.nt to hear. However, go ahead 
20 

until you finish the twenty affidavits. 

LIEUT. COLONEL MOKlJA^E: (Heading)： 

22 11

 丄 wp.s captured on Batar.n, Fhilipoino Islands
 5 

23 
8 April, 194-2.5 while serving in the Weather Section 

24 

of Kocdquartors Battery, 200th Coast Artillery. My 
25 

duties included surveying end drafting. I wes held 
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in custody c.s a prisoner of war by the Imperial 

Japanese; Government from 8 April, 194-2, to 11 Sept-

ember , 1 9 4 5 , at the following places; Camp 0'Lonnell, 

Philippine Islands from 2 J u n e , 1 9 ^ 2 , to 21 Sept-

ember ,194-3; Los Penos, Philippine Islands, 21 

September, 194-3, to 30 September, 1944. Frora 1 

October, 1944, to 8 November, 1944, I was enroute 

by boat frora La nils, Philippine Islands, to Cr.mp 

Sngin (phonetic) to Taiwan (Formosa). I left 'Taiwan 

on 12 January,19巧，cbor.rd the Melbourne Maru and 

arrived at Kozska in the Sendal area, Japan, on 27 

January, 1945. I wr.s- held in Kozake. until my libera-

tion 11 September,194-5• I wt,s rppointed squad 

leader by the Japanese at Kozaks and held this 

position for five months. 

"The only tv'o J&pr.nese in my places cf im-

prisonment whoso noracs エ can now recall vere Supply 

Sergeant OSANI (phonetic •) who vrc.s nicknamed the 

'Skull'and Corporal KUIiADA, a Japanese modicGl 

corpsman。 Both of these inon were stationed at Eozaka. 

"It is difficult to describe the conditions on 

our trip from Philippino Islands to Tciwan. \-e 

traveled in a hold aboard a srar.ll collier v'hicli was 

very old and had been reconditioned. Seven hundred 

American prisoners, including myself, were loaded 
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into the hold of the ship which vas pproximately 

40 or 45 feet long, 3〇 to 35 feet v;ido and ap-

proximately 30 feat de^p. Coal to a depth of 10 

feet covered the entire floor of the hold. About 400 

other AmeriCc.n prisoners were loaded in tha aft hold 

of the ship which was located immediately behind, the 

ship
1

s engine room. The hoat in the hold was almost 

unbearable and I was told thct the aft hold vres even 

hotterン There v/as not room enc ugh in our hold to 

lie down. The hold probrbly should have accommodate 

about 250 men. Thirty-two American prisonoi's in our 

hold died from suffocation and heat exhaustion during 

the thirty day trip.トIan)厂 of tho men vere out of 

tlieir heads due to the intense heat, xhc hold wes 

cohered with wooden planking vrith about tv.-o inches 

spacing between the planks, and, during sir raids, 

canvas covers were pulled across these planks com-

pletely shutting out the cir. After about six clays, 

the Japanese le.cod cables into end around the planking 

covering the held which Fould have made escape im-

possible in the event the ship wr.:s sunk. There were no 

lights of ony kind in the hold. vJe were told by the 

Jr-pcnese at the start of the trip that . would re-

ceive one U.S.Army canteen cup cf crater p-ir man per cisy. 

However, we only received this amount on four or five 

I 



occasions when we touched that many ports 



n

I received about two-thirds of a cuo per 

day. However, on some days we were completely without 

water。 We received, two meals per day normally. How-

ever, between the weather and air raids, they often 

cut this to one meal. The Japanese tried to make up 

for this cut in our ration on the following days "but 

this v?£s never completely accomplished. According to 

the notes of the trip which I k°pt, on 13 October, 1944^ 

we received 3/4- of a cup of cooked rice in the morning 

and 3/^ of a cup of cookecl rice mixed with seaweed 

for our second meal on thet dev. On .20 October 1944, 

when our toat wgs in the port of Hong Kong, I'received 

1/3 canteen cup of stewed greens end one canteen cup 

of steamed rice in the morning and in the afternoon 

I received sbout 2/3 of a cup of steamed rice. On some 

days we received less th&n these amounts. The food 

was prepared by the American prisoners and lowered to 

the hold in wooden buckets attached to rot)es. 

"There were no latrine facilities in the 

hold and buckets and cans were lowered, on ropes for the 

men to relieve themselves and then pulled back to the 

deck end disposed of. It wes necessary for many of the 

men to dig holes in the coal to use as toilets. As a 

result of this, the floor was continually filthy and 

dirty. All of the men had seveit cases ^f diarrhea at 
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sometime during the trip. I w?.s allowed on deck 

three or four times for fifteen minute periods during 

the entire trip. I believe thet ell the Americcns 

menaged to get on deck r."bout thct number of times. 

"There were some American Red Cross medical 

supplies on board the ship. However the surjulies were 

soon exhausted. At the strrt of the trip, our officers 

secured vitamin tebleis from the Red Cross prrcels 

end pessed these out rt the r?te of two tcblets per 

mF.n per dny and the supply wr：s exhausted by the end 

of fifteen days. Medical Facilities on the boat were 

prccticr.lly nil included small amounts of sulfa 

thicsole, The physicc.l conditions of the Americrns 

et the beginning of the trip were rersonrbly good but 

c.t the end of the trip all prisoners were in rioor shepe. 

The Jrpanese cor>imrnder st our destination rernprked thrt 

ours wes the worst group of prisoners nhvsically thrt 

he had ever hrndled. I lost epproxirnctely twenty 

pounds during the trip." 

Prosecution document 5193 is the sworn record 

of the interrogrtion of First Liev.tenrnt Harold '"hitcomb 

of the United States Army. I tender the document for 

identification. 

CLZRX CF THE COI.'RT； Prosecution's document 

No. 5193 will receive exhibit No. 1638 for 
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1 

i 

i d e n t i f i c a t i o n o n l y . 

2 ('""hereupon, the document above r e f e r r e d 

3 to wrs mp.rked r r o s e c u t i o n ' s e x h i b i t No. 1638 f o r 

4 i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . ) 

5 LI i :UT. COLONEL MORNANE: And the mc.rked 

6 e x c e r p t s i n e v i d e n c e . 

7 THE PRLSIDE^Ti Admitted on the u s u a l terms. 

8 CLI.'RK OF THE COUHTs The marked excerpts t h e r e -

9 from, b e a r i n g the s?aie document number, w i l l r e c e i v e 

1.0 e x h i b i t No. I638A. 

11 (' hereupon, the document f.bove r e f e r r e d 

12 to v/c；s marked, p r o s e c u t i o n ' s e x l i i b i t No. I638A 

13 c.nd r e c e i v e d i n e v i d e n c e . ) 

14 LIE取。COLONI.L M0RNA1-IE: The c f f i a n t wc-.s 

15 ccpcured by the Japanese at Br:tr;rn i n A p r i l , 194-2. 

16 I now pronose to r e r d from the e x c e r p t s , b e g i n n i n g 

17 e.t the second q u e s t i o n on page 2 of the E n g l i s h 

18 v e r s i o n . I w i l l omit some of the q u e s t i o n s ; 

19 " I 6 8 7 men, e l l Americans who hcd been gathered 
20 a t B i l i b i d P r i s o n H o s p i t a l o.t M a n i l a , boarded the 

21 Japanese t r a n s p o r t , I r i o k o Mrru, ？.t H s n i l c , P i e r 7 , 

22 on 1 2 December 1944. ，'> were p i l e d i n t o two holds 

23 and we were so crowded t h r t we were not a l l ? b l e to 

24 l i e dovm at the srme t i m e . I f one s r t down, another 

25 hcd to strnd up. The Japanese sent us ？. ter."bucket 
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of water for 700 men. There were only two buckets iA 

three days rnd e&ch bucket contained only rbout six 

gclions of water. There were no sanitation facilities, 

not even buckets, end we were not permitted to go on 

deck even for sf.nit?tion purnoses. The only ones who 

were permitted to go on deck were those who went for 

food. The C±T W£ S prrticulrrly foul rnd between 

December 12th end December 14th, severe 1 hundred men 

died of suffoc." tion or lack of wr t e r .ァ e kept yelling 

for 恥ter end rir. There wrs ？. Jrpanese gurrd rt the 

top of the lr.dder end he wo”Id not even listen to us. 

There is no cccurrte account of how mrny died beccuse 

we were bombed 14th December r.nd on the morning of the 

15th, and abrndoncd the bojt thct day. 

"î e were bombed on the 14th end the tort went 

r；ground. ' e were bombed rgcin on the 15th. The 

Jcpanese took off then end lcter we took off. Apでrox-

imr.tely 1200 of the original group were r.ble to get 

£. shore. 

were on the I s l m d of Luzon rt Alongopo. 

•'e 1200 were kept in r.n enclosed tennis court. There 

were no Irtrine facilities. 7'e were fed four times 

during the seven d.?ys. Each time we received only one 

end one-haIf spoonfuls of uncooked rice rnd we hed no 

facilities with which to cook it.
 r

e were given some 
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clothing. We hrd to remain r.t the mscadem tennis court 

all day and rll night, strrk nnked. Mony of us suffer-

ed from cold. During this seven-dey p e r i o d , 1 0 0 

•kmericr:n military personnel died from exposure, 

dysentery r.nd starvction. The Jrpanesc gathered their 

bodies once r dcy." 

There is c psrrgraph referring to the names 

of Jnpcnese personnel which I do not propose to rer-.d. 

"We were then trken to Srn Fernando, 

Philippine Islands, v/hcre we were kept in en old sben-

doned thester for throe d£ys. We were then loc.ded on 

p rsilror.d err. ‘ One hundred of us were crowded into r. 

box car. These cr.rs v;ere the smell European size. 

The Jrpanese placed some of our personnel on too of 

the errs so the bombers wouldn't hit them. These men 

were given pillov/ crses r.nd white flags for signaling. 

"We were taken off the trr.In r:t Linguien on the 

エslr.nd of Luzon. We spent pert of the dry in the 

school yrrd where wc were riven no srnitction facil-

ities . We were then marched to the beach where we 

remr：ined two drys end one night. We v/crc on the sr.ne； 

hed no shede ； e lmost no water mc! thct which we did 

hrvr wr.s mersured by the spoonful. Two officers, in-

cluding one colonel, end r.lso one enlisted men died 

from exposure. Incidentally, we were in ferr of our 



13,246 

lives br-csuse under the send of the 'beach hed teen 

buried gr.soline snd rmmunition. 

"
T?;

e were nut on c horse -trf.nsnort • There v/ere 

two holds tnd I w^s in the second, one. I was grouned 

among horse rcmc； ins, flies r.nd corruntion. Agrin, 

water wrs measured by the s p o o n f v l . W c were supposed 

to hr.ve been fed two times v d: y but often we were only 

fed once n d^y. Our food genorslly consisted of three 

tablespoonfuls of hot wster soup rnd the seme amount 

of cookcd rice, two times s dc.y. Mcny of the men died 

either from cccumulrtcd wcrknessos from former exper-

iences, dysentery or rnr: lnris. The deed would rvcrf ge 

25 £ d?y mr.inly from strrvr.tion, dysentery or infec-

tion. We were so starved thr.t we f.te flics r.nd some 

men even pickcd grain that wrs on the floor with the 

horse remこ.ins. "'e were err.zed with hungL>*. On the 

2nd or 3rd of Jrnurry, v:e v;cre torpedoed twice. The 

rudder snd propeller of the boat were damaged but 

there were no crsuc.lties.
1 ? T

e vreve on this horse trans-

port rbout thirteen dcys all told rnd on J m u r r y 9th 

in Tecr.w Hfrbor, Formosc, wc were hit by Nsvy Bomb 

Diver. 

"Lt. Col. Olsen mr:de mrny efforts at the 

risk of his own r>c-rsonrl sefety to improve our lot. 

Lt. Murata and M r . W£dc would not do rnything and 
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would not listen. ‘ 

"Q Whnt happened on Janur.ry 9th? 

"A We were hit by several bombs ？long the v/nter 

lint rnd three of the bombs exploded in the forward 

hold where 600 to 700 men v/crc lined up in squads writ-

ing for breakfast. At thct time, we had one G.I. cup 

of tcr. for 24 men. These three bombs killed rbout 

500 of the 700 men quartered there rnd rbout 2
r

0 in 

tho rftcrhold v;ere wounded. hcd r.ll been in a weak-

ened condition bccr.use were rev?god by st?'rvrtion, 

exposure and zero wee.the r. The holds were uncovered 

r.nd we hr;d no blcnkets. Most of us hr.d no clothing. 

Wc hr,d cbsolutcly no medical attention end c.s v/c 

necred For mo sr., wc. hrd food but oncc c. dry, no wster 

rnd we scrr:ped the floor covcrrd with horse rc-mrins 

for snow thet filtered down tlirough the hold. At the 

time v/e were bombed, op proximately 40 men e. dry were 

dying from stこrvrtion rnd privrition. 

"Those of us who survived were transferred 

to r smell intcr-islrnd stenmer rnd moved to Jr.pen. 

The der,th rrtc wns high but I om unrble to estimr.te 

it. we r-rrived c.t Moji on the island of Kyushu ？p-

proximntGly Jnnurry 28th or 29th. H m y of the men 

were ber：ten by gur.rds when they attempted to scrr.pc 

snow off the cc.nvrs to get needed liquids. Conditions 
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cgsin were poor. Approximctely 225 of the original 

I.687 disembarked at Moji rnd 105 of thnt group were 

sick r‘nd wounded rnd were tnken to c. h o s p i t a l . A t this 

time Lt. lamkTk end Mr. WADA left the group. 

"This hospital wes a bare shed. There were 

no doctors and. we had to Icy on the floor. We did 

not h； ve any medicrl aid for severe 1 dr.ys end we re-

ceived only r smr.11 quantity of food. ""e were fed 

twicc g dc.y but thct was msinly thin rice gruel. We 

remained here until February 2Gth. The dc-c.th rrte 

ot this time wss very high end we hrd r:"bout 10 to 17 

derd a day r.nd on Fcbrurry 20th rll th"t remr.ined of 

the 105 were 27 men." 

THE PRESIDENT; You r.re well wr.rranted in 

reading extensively from thct nffidrvit. 

LIUTTT。COLONEL MORNANE: IPS document No. 

5216 is the sworn interrogation of Corrjorcl S. L. 

Brker of the United Strtes Mrrine Corps. I tender the 

originrl for identifiertion ond the mrrked cxcerpts 

thereof in c-videncc. 

THE PRESIDENT; Admitted on the usurl terms. 

CLERK OF THE COI^T: Prosecution's document 

No. 5216 will rcceive exhibit No. 1639 for identifi-

er, tion only, rnd the mrrked cxcerDts therefrom, berr-

ing the sr.me document number, will rc.ceive exhibit 



N o . 1639A. 

(V/hcreupon, prosecution's document 

N o . 5216 wr.s marked prosecution's exhibit N o . 

1639 for identification, the excerpts therefrom 

being mnrked prosecution's exhibit N o . I639A 

rnd received in evidence,) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: Corporr.l Brker wrs 

crptured by the Jcpnnese on Wrke Islnnd on the 23rd 

of December, 1 9 4 1 . I will now rerd from the lest 

fnswer on prgc 2 of the English version to the end of 

th^t rnswer: 

"About 6 Jmur.ry 1942, the Jcpcncsc loaded 

ppproximately 1300 prisoners of wcr rbor.rd the Nitt?. 

Mcru r.t V.
7

?ke エslr.nd. There were rp-oroximr,tely three 

hundred service men r:nd rbout one thousr.nd civilirns 

in this group. As we bocrded the ship orch prisoner 

wrs forced to run c gruntlet in which he wrs bee ten 

c:nd kickcd by the ship's crew. The prisoners were 

plrcccl in three sepr.rrtc holds, which were spp.ccd one 

cbovc the other, r.nd I was plcced in the first hold 

her;rcst the dcck. To my knowledge no one wr；s killed 

during the period wc "bor.rdcd this ship rnd were put in 

the hold, but there were r. few who were very v/erkencd 

cs r： result of running the gauntlet when bor.rdirag the 

ship. The hold wrs very crowdcd rnd there wrs not 
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sufficient room for ecch mc.n to strctch out without 

portly lying on top of cnother nrisoncr. ‘e remained 

in these holds for the entire trip which lasted fipprox- i 

imctcly seventeen dc.ys. Ten prisoners were cllowed 

on deck when this ship rcr chcd Yokohnmc. rnd I vrcs 

tola thr.t their picture wrs tr.ken for propr.grndr pur-

poses ct this time. There were no Ic.trines for the 

prisoners end the only m c m s of relieving ourselves 

wes by using c buckct lowered from the deck. The 

hold \TCs dirty rnd we were, not furnished m y t h i n g with 

which to cler.n it. A number of the prisoners were ill 

cno suffering from dysentery r.nd dicrrhocr rnd bccr.use 

of their condition rnd the Irck of lrtrine frcilitics 

such cs described rbovc, this caused very -anscnitrry 

conditions in the hold。 The buckcts which the pris-

oners used in plp.ee of lr trine s were not emptied prompt-

ly ?nd r.s the need celled for it, end this further r.g-

grr vcted the sitUL tion, r.s did the crrelc ss mr.nncr in 

which these buckcts were hculcd to the top dc-ck for 

emptying, ct which time prrt of the contents of the 

bucket would be skilled in the hold. "e lost trrck 

of night rnd dcy during this trip r.nd it seemed t.hct 

our food csrae £.t irrcgulr.r intervals, though エ believe 

we were fed tv/o or three timcs ハcr d。y。 The only 

wrtcr wc rcceivcd was one smrll tcrcup of wrter ner 
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meal end ocflcsionr.lly wc would reocivc one cup be two en 

mecls。 Until we rccched J?pen tho hold wrs stiflin? 

and hoセ rnd all of us were thirsty constantly. Er.ch 

mtr 1 Wc's the sr.me f.nd consisted of bcrley gruel end 

wrtcr ‘-- r.bout c. three ounce portion. There were two 

exceptions to this diet -- on one occnsion we receivcc 

in cdaition to thし gruel,r smc.ll piecc of smoked fish 

end on the second occasion we received r smell ..-ortion 

of ccnned sclmon, of which a grcrt dcr:l wrs contr.m-

iru' ted. The portion of this sclraon which I rtc WJ.S 

evidently contaminrtcd bccausc immcdirtcly r:ftcr cr.ting 

it エ bccrme violently ill end during r.ll the mrrch from 

the dock to the- crmp c.t
 Ti

'oosung, some of my fellow 

prisoners hr.d to carry mc rt intervals c.s エ would be-

come blind end become unconscious c?t times. To my 

knowledge there v\rcre no der.ths sboard the ship during 

this trip, but there were inmimerctle bcr,tings ad-

ministered to the prisoners "by the ship's crew. There 

were. Japr.ntse scilors and Jr.pGncsc mr.rincs abor.rd this 

ship r.nd from obscrvrtion it would seem thrt the 

Japanese mr.rines were detailed to hrndlc the prisoners 

cbor.rd ship. On numerous occcsions the prisoners 

were scrrched -ハnd nil their possessions such cs nc-ns, 

jewelry rnd v/rtchcs were trken from them rnd irrespec-

tive of whether the serrch proved profitrble or not, 
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would still be ber. ten r.s r.lesson to 

to hold out on them." 
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Lエ丽. C O L O N E L MORNANE: Prosecution d ocu-

merit No. 5215" is the sworn interrogation of V.v. J. F» 

EcDonaId, an American citizen. I tender the original 

for identification, and the excerpts in evidence. 

T:_]S PRESILENT: Admitted on t he usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution
1

s document 

No. 5215 will receive exhibit No. 1640 for identifica-

tion only. The excerpts therefrom will receive exhibit 

No. 1640-A. 

(Whereupon, prosecution document No. 

、 w a s marked prosecution
1

 s exhibit No. 1640 

for idcntification, the excerpts thereform being 

marked prosecution
f

 s exhibit No
0
 1640-A and re-

ceived in evidence.) 

T - I R U T . COLONEL KORNANE: This document refers 

to the same voyage as thgt described in the immediately 

preceding exhibit. The affiant states t hat before 

embarking on the ship every prisoner was furnished 

with a copy of Regulations for Prisoners. I will now 

refor the Court to paragraphs 1 , 2 and 4 of such 

Regulations. The first paragraph provide'.! the death 

penalty for a total of twelve offenses. The second 

paragraph reads as follows: "Since the boat is not 

well equipped and inside being narrow, food being 

scarce and poor, you'll feel uncoinfortable during 
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the short time on the boat. Those losing patience 

ancl disordering the regulation will be heavily pun-

ished for the reason of noセ being able to escort." 

Regulation 4: "I'leal >vill be given twice 

a day. One plate only to one prisoner. The prisoners 

called by the guard will give out the meal quick as 

possible and honestly. The remaining prisoners will 

stay in their places quietly and wait for your plate. 

Those moving from their places reaching for your 

plate without order will be heavily punished. Same 

orders will be applied in handling rlates after mesl." 

•"y next document is the r.fficavit of Leading 

Air Craf tsman Thomas 'Yill iam Adams on of Royal Air 

Force, This is prosecution
1

s document Mo. 5149。 

エ"tencier it for identification, and the marked 

excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRSSILSIMT: Colonel Mornane, you did not 

read the types of offenses that incurred the punish-

ment of death. That is most important. 

T.IEUT. COLONEL M O R N A N E :ェ will now read 

that paragraph, if it please the Tribunal. Paragraph 

1 ； " a . Those disobeying orders and instructions. 

b. Those showing a motion of antagonism and raising 

a sign of opposition。 c. Those disordering the regu-

lations by incividualism, egoism, thinking only about 
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yourself, rushing for your own goods. d. Those 

talking without permission anc raising loud voiees. 

e. Those walking and moving without order, f. Those 

carrying unnecessary baggage in embarking, g. Those 

resisting mutually, h. Those touching the boat
1

s 

materials., wires, electric lights, tools, switches , 

etc» i. Those climbing ladder without order, j. 

Those showing action of running a*»jay from the room or 

boat, k. Those trying to take more meal than given 

to t h e m , 1
0
 Those using more than two blankets 

I n cw tenaer prosecution's document 5149 

for id enc if: caticr., and the marked excerpts in evi-

dence , 

THB PR3SILEKT： ； Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5149 will receive exhibit 1641 for identifica-

tion only. The marked excerpt therefrom will receive 

exhibit No. 1641-A. 

(Whereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 514-9 vns marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1641 for identification, the excerpt 

therefrom being marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1641-A ano received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLOIEL I.iORKANE: This affidavit 

refers to the transportation of 200 sick British 
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prisoners of w?r from Amboina to Java in I.'ay, 194-4. 

During the course of the voyage the Jap. Sergeant 

Major in charge of the prisoners beat a Corporal 

Taylor until he fell to the deck half conscious and 

then with a sword killed him by partly severing his 

head from his body. The affidavit also describes 

the beating of other prisoners by this Sergeant ？:ajor. 

I now procuce affidavit of Flight Lieutenant 

William
 T

'. Blackwood of the Royal Air Force. It is 

I.P, S» r.ocum^nt No. 5 1 ^ 1 . I tender the affidavit 

for ideui: ifぃ？tio.:i and the marked excerpts in evi-

dence « 

ThS FRESILENi ？ Admitted on the usualt erms. 

CLERIC OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5151 will receive exhibit Ko. 1642 for identifi-

cation only, and the marked excerpts therefrom will 

receive exhibit No. 1642-A。 

(thereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 5l5l marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1642 for identification, the excerpts 

therefrom being marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1642-A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL 1.I0RNAKE: I propose to read 

this affidavit from paragraph 1. 

"In early September 194-4 I was in the prisoner 
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of war camp at Weijami on Anbon Island. It was about 

that time that Allied aircraft visited Ambon town and 

cid terrific damage there. Shortly after that raid 

the Japanese decided to move the prisoners, and on 

17 September I found myself the senior British officer 

in charge of a small draft of British and Dutch prison-

ers of war who were to g o on board the 500 ton Dutch 

ferry boat "Karon Ilaru." 

"On the morning of embarkation it rained for 

the first time for many days. I'
T

y party marched bare-

foot or using wooden sandals in a glutinous sea of 

liquid mud which covered the sharp coral of the road 

surface. With guards harassing us to hurry, the beri-

beri crippled being pushed and bullied, gnd the stretch-

er bearers being goaded into a shambling trot, we rmde 

the jetty in about half an hour. There the stretchers 

were laid in the mud fully exposed to the pitiless rain, 

although a series of hutments i/vere at hand by the road-

side, After everybody was soaked through a few straw 

mats were produced and these were craped over the 

sicker men whose bewildered whimpers fell without 

response on the ears of the guards. 

"After nearly three hours' wait, barges were 

brought alongside anc we were ferried across the creek 

to where our transport lay at anchor. When we drew 
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alongside I coulc scarcely believe that allヲ 00 of 

us were expected to get aboard. When エ realized that 

the holds were full anc. battened down, ana that they 

were to t ravel as deck passengers, I wgs staggered. 

First of all the baggage dumped on the hatch 

covers and an attempt ims mqde to distribute the 

fit m e n , wnIking patients, anc; stretcher cases in 

the gangways anc narrow aeck spaces. The effect 

was like a Loneon tubs train in tha rush hour. No 

level space could be founo for the stretchers, and 

the sick men were subjected to acute discomfort and 

an ordeal which it was at once obvious they could not 

sustain for a long sea passage. On protest the bag-

gage -ms removed from tha hatch covers. Settling into 

this terribly cramped SDace with sodden kit bogs vras 

almost ir-possible. Worse was to come, firewood for 

the cookhouse fires on voyage wns brought alongside. 

Picture a snip 11 ferry boat, not more thnn thirty faet 

in maximur. beam and with perhaps forty-five f#ct from 

the after bulkhead of the forecastle to just abaft 

the midship as the limit of our ；allowed space, the 

remainder of the main deck 。nd oil deck works 2nd 

housings out of bounds, and some indication of crowd-

ing is given. When ths firewood，.vss stacked all the 

deck space wns full to the gunwale, and the hnplsss 
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men draped about in a sitting or squatting position. 

Two wooden boxes slung over the ship's sices マ;ere all 

tha latrine accommodation provided. Into these boxes 

the pal^i^d men had to drag themselves after a journey 

over piles of firewood fraught n'ith difficulty for a 

fit man, let alono a sick one who coulci not lk on 

a tiled floor. We sailed that night. 

"Luring the sleepless night many nen wnlked 

about miserably trying to find place to lie d.o^n 

without treacling on socieone else, v;hich was impossible. 

During the night waves shipped through a sen door on 

one side of the ship swept across the deck with 

each roll of the vessel, sweeping helpless stretcher 

cases about like flotsam. The mon took odvnntnge of 

oaylight to try an& settle themsgIves n little better. 

Ona ir-an who iiao been brought aboard very sick c.iea 

during the night, and was buried at sea 

I will omit the next paragraph, if the Court 

please, snc go on to paragraph 6. 

"Already v/eakoned by fifteen months of 

back-breaking vork, grievously sick from malnutrition 

and ill treatment, the rico diet soon produced its 

inevitable effect. Beriberi broke out almost univer-

solly. The sick, lying on the hatch, v/ere given no 

shade, nnd, in spite of repeated requests, no n"/ning 
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of any sort was provided until about thirty men had 

died from thirst and exposure. The water allowance 

？/as less than half a pint a day per iran, and on sev-

eral occasions after reached Makassar the dying men 

on the hatch were treated to the spectacle of their 

guards bathing themselves in tho drums of drinking 

water. Enroute to Bonthain one man, crcwling weakly 

over the side into the latrine, fell overboard. The 

ship put about ana the man was picked up。 All offi-

cers were then lined up ano lashed with a rope's end 

by Kasiama, an English-speaking Korean guard, as an 

example for not controlling our non
0 

"Deaths were occurring daily by this time, 

ano sacks full of sand were provided by the Japanese 

to attach to the legs of the corpses. Burial w^s only 

allowed whon the ship was in motion, anc. any man who 

cied curing 彐 period at anchor before Makrassar h^d to 

be bound up in his blanket and slung to the awning of 

the winch house until such time as we ere a gain under 

way. 

"An atmosphere of horror was being built up on 

the ship which did not help t he efforts of anyone to 

stay alive, anc soon the number of dead began to in-

crease. Then, one day at Rahat on the island of Foena， 

a Japanese junk camG alongside with about one hundred 
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anc fifty m e n '.vho had left Arrbon in August under the 

i 

charge of Captnin Vnn der Loot, one of the Hnrookoe 

drr.ft Dutch officers. Thoso nion h-̂ d been shot up on 

thoir ship by n Liberator, which sつnk thorr. after it 

had set their ship on fire, 

"On my ship, already overcrowded 'vith npidl,v 

sickening mon, tho arrival of this extra number created 

undescribable confusion. Harcly n irnn could even sit 

down properly, let alone lie down, and the new arrivals 

hac left earlier than，:IG because they were more sick. 

Thoir condition now, after a crowded journey, poor 

food, anc tha added strain of boing thron
n

 into the 

sen unable to fend for themsolves as thoy drifted awav 

from thair burning ship, vns appalling to witness. 

I'rjny of these were crippled beriberi, several were 

raving, no all wsro pitifully wenk. Soir.ehow or other 

they W3TQ pocked on board, mingling inextricably with 

the four hundred and eighty odd that wore loft in my 

draft. There was no shade on the deck and tho gangways, 

and there was only room for a few of the vorv •！norst 

enses on the hatch. All the men lay spread out on the 

uneven bundles of firewood, blistering horribly in the 

tropical sun. Tongues began to blacken, r‘,w, shirtless 

shouldors to bleed, and all vestige of s?.nity Gcsorted 
25 many. The night wns fillod with tho yells ano screams 
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of the Gying, the curses of the tirod-out who tried 

2 to sleep, ana the perpetual hiccoughing that afflicts 

3 a man about to die from boriberi." 
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"Scenes of ind^scribable horror became 

cjor^monp.丄ace. Picking their way through the tangled 

nass of humanity lying about on the narrow ship, 

crderlios carried the naked, wasted bodies of the dead 

ljo the ship's side, where unheard, except by those 
6

present, the burial service for those who di^ at sea 

i^as r^ad before casting the body with its weight sack, 

cve?rboard. One youngster, naddened with sunstroke, 

shouted the thoughts of his disorderpd brain for thirty 

hours before he becane too weak to talk any nore. 
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ust before ho dipd, he snatched a full tin that vns 

Toeing used as a bod pan, and drank the contents greedily, 

thinking it was viator, before hp could be prevented. 

"Until we reached Makassar, about the 7th 

Clctoher, smoking was prohibited because tbe holds were 

full of petrol and ammunition. At Makassar, the few 

en who could work were pressed into service to unload 

the ship and sore of the amnunition. Tho remaining 

oxes were levelled off
5
 and nen were allowed down 

the holds„ Although still inpossible crowded this 

as a slight improverapnt as the men could get out of 

the sun. 

"After the cargo was unloaded some mangoes 

ero brought aboard and bought out of noney fron the 

plrofits of the Haroekoe canp cantesn. Water wr.s taken 
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aboard but the Korean in charge of the galley drov; 

a pencil line at the full water line of the open drums 

threatening dirp punishment to all on board in the 

way of ration cuts if thp level v;pnt down at all during 

thp night。 He also kicked any man who had cradled 

under leaks in the hosepipes, and wer" trying to collect 

a few drops of thp precious fluid. 

"When rore storps had been takon aboard we 

sot sail again. All wore trenendously relieved, feeling 

that the back of the frightful journey had been broken. 

This, however, w.^s not to be. For forty days 

stood off a snail island near 丄Makassar "aking occasional 

returns to the harbour. Thia was a tremendous blow 

to ^any of the sick vho had keyed themselves up for 

the remaining journpy and xverp now facod with day 

after day of idleness. '3y tho tiie we oventually 

s^t sail again, nearly two hundred nnd fifty corpsps 

had been thrown over the side
T 

in,

/hen th<° survivors fron the other ship were 

taken aboard, Lt. KURA,-HIIIA, tgt. MORI and KiitlAIIA 

(the English spe(?king Korean) all three of whon were 

at Karonkoe throughout the occupation of that canp 

aboard as well. They had escaped in ono of the ship's 

boats. The Lieutenant,セrue to his previous showing, 

did absolutely nothing at all to hplp us. Neither, 
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5

 of course, did his sergeant or the interpreter KAtIAI5A. 

One accident is worthy of aention at this point, 

"As a sick Dutchman was dying one night, 

he started to hiccough vnry loudly and at close 

intervals ト
1

gt. MORI appeared on the bridge and threatened 

to beat all the sick men unless the man v;r.s given an 

injection to make hiコ sleep. This v;as done
5
 but in 

half an hour he was awake again,トgt
e
 KORI repeated 

his threat, and another injection was given. After 

an hour the nan wokp again and started hiccoughing 

once more. Yelling ?.t the top of his voice the Japanese 

sergeant insisted the nan be given a third injection 

or else hp would corac down and lay about hin with a 

stick among thp stretcher cases. A third injection 

was given, and this tine the wretched sick man was 

not heard again. He was dead." 

I "!7ill»onit tho next .paragraph and cone t,n 

the 17th: 
,r

At night the orderlies had a fearsome task, 

tiptoeing about the crowded hatches carrying stool 

tins and urine pots over the recumbent frames of men 

so rotten with beriberi that they screaned aloud if 

merely brushed gently with the foot. The orderlies 

worked really hard at a thankless, heartbreaking task. 

The Dutch Doctor, Captain springer, who had done 



F.agnificent work at Haroekoe, continued his tireless 

pfforts on the nens
T

 behalf, sparing himself not at 

all. F/Lt, Phillips, anothpr Haroekoe doctor, also 

worked splendidly doing all that was possible for the 

sick. Moving about the ship was difficult enough 

but the Korean in charge of the cookhouse, Kanioka, 

forbade the use of the aft gangway athwortships after 

sorpe alleged theft of stores。 This made movement very 

difficult indeed especially for the lame and the 

orderlies on dark moonless nights
a
" 

And coming to the 19th paragraph: 

"Crossing the straits of Makassar .iust north 

of Bari Bari, we cane dovm the East coast of Borneo 

and eventually reached &ourabaya after sixty-eight 

days at sea. Of six hundred and thirty men who had 

been aboard, only three hundred and twenty—five remained 

alive, and these were for the most 7-a.rt feeble, 

shambling wrecks, unwashed ^or two months and crawling 

with vermin. From &ourabaya we left by train for 

Batavia." 

I will omit the last paragraph. 
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I.P.S. document No, 5190 is an affidavit 

made by Colonel Chsrles Hubert Stringer of Royal 

Army Medical Corps。 I offer this document for 

identification and tho marked excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT? Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OP THE COURTs Prosecution's document 

JIo. 5190 呵ill receive exhibit No. 1643 for identifi-

cation only and the marked excerpt therefrom v/ill 

receive exhibit E o , 1 6 4 3 - A . 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

H o . 1 6 4 3 for identification only5 the excerpt 

therefrom being marked prosecution's exhibit 

L
T

o.1643-A and received, in evidence.) 

LIEUT。C0L〇J!EL MORITAWEi I propose to read 

this affidavit from paragraph 2: 

"On 16.8.42 a large parry of all the senior 

officers, from colonel upwards, Governors and Chief 

Justices, r;ere moved from Changi t.o Singapore clocks 

ancl packed irrt.o the hold of a ship. This was a 

trial packing and even 0 1 1.apanese standards we 

could not get in. Having spent the night in this 

misery the next da,ア we were moved to another ship 

and again packed into one hold. There did not seem 

to be much difference but there we stayed. This ship, 
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the 'Tan.jong Maru,
 1

 was a coal ship end the coal 

debris had not been removed. The center of the 

hold was piled with our kits and round the sides 

were two
 1

 iers of rough benching。 We Y\rore packed 

on this benching where there was ust room for bodies 

lying side by side but no room for bedding. There 

マas a double row of prisoners on the benching lying 

セh feet inwards and in the armpits of the opposite 

prisoners. We V'lere packed as slaves were packed in 

the horrors of the 'Middle Passage.' Even then 

there was not room for ever^yone and. the remainder 

had to lie on the kits in the center of the hold. 
* 

There was no washing water and no c'rinliing water 

though plain green tea vas provided at infrequent 

intervals. The latrines provided
 T

7ere rough wooden 

shelters on a very narrow deck gGngwsy。 They vere 

of the trough type and Yirere rarely hosed dov;n. 

"Before leaving Changi v;e were ordered by 

the Japanese not to bring any mcdical stores and 

assumed that everything would be provided on board 

ship. In spite of this order all medical officers 

brought some mcdical supplies and it was well we did 

so as not a single drug or dressing was provided on 

the ship during the voyage nor ザas any hospital accom-

modation provided even under tho most urgent pleading. 
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ir

We spent fourteen days in tl-is Hell Ship 

in a tropical climate. Tho spaco provided for all 

purposes for each tv;o individuals was ton feet by 

t\io and one-half foot. Head space v&s four feet 

to the iron plates of the clock above. Tho sun beat 

on this iron during the day, made it too hot to 

touch and turned the spaco "below into an oven. 

Prickly heat rapidly developed and as rapidly turned 

into boils and tropical parophigous. There VJOTQ 

399 officers and men in t
v

 is hold, nnd the dock 

spaco
 r

-;as little moro than tv/o rjarrov; gangways. 

Ono hundred men r.'cro allor/od on dock at a time for 

frcs!" air but as our sick increased this cba.ngc over 

number vas more and more reduced as it bcca.mo a 

matter of life end death for patients to pet out 

of the foul atmosphere of the hold. As tho. diarrhea 

and dysentery eases increased in numbers and severity 

the deck conditions bccamc f o u l . T h e s e unfortunate 

people could not control thorns elves o.'ing to tho 

urgency and frequoncj'
-

 of their need and the conges-

tion in the for; latrines available. The docks XICVQ 

bespattered v;ith human dcjeeta and. tho worst cases 

coulcl not got up and dor/n the narrow and steep 

'wooden gangway to the hold. They lay day and night 

on tho deck or hatch cover just outside the latrines. 
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For t.ho ソorst eases v;o tried, to rig up' improvised 

head covor but the Japanese obJoetod to this。 

"Fo eases died on board ship, Wc landed 

r.t Takau on 31.8.42 and within a '7eGk cr to：, days 

the .following vorc do ad: At.tornoy General Houcll, 

Lieutenant Colonel Kennedy, I。M„S。， Captain talker, 

Lioutenants Kemlo, Dowling a.nd Griffin H.E, All 

cjicd from dysentery vi^f.ch '..hoy r?.r:^flopod 0.1 the soa 

curacy from Singapore： and for v/hi.eh f.h^y got no 

中dicine nor caro from Japanese sources during 

the voyage。 On landing Mr. Eov/cl] and Lieutenant 

Colonel Kcnnody YJOTO acunittcd to a J&panose hospital 

practically moribund. Thoy '-ore put i：-. a vjc-.rd by 

tiomsc-lvcs and s-
1

-vcn neither -lccTicinc nor nursing. 

Tpcv -:;cre l i t o r a l l " l e f t to d i e , - ; h i c h thoy d i d i n 

day or trrc.
i! 

I '".'i l l next r e f e r to IPS docunicnt rTo. 5 1 7 0 - A , 
17 
I'： is the affidavit of IVnrrant Officcr John Owen 

18 
Edrjards, .Royal Corps of Signals. The marked cxccrpts 

19 
have already boon admitted in ovidcncc as exhibit 

20 
Fc丨.I631-A during the Formosa scction of this phase. 

That happened t h i s rncrnir.g, I w i l l now read the 
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cone paragraph of this affidavit which describes 

voyage bo Formosa-

"'In Octcbcr
5
 1942

 v
 -with at out 12〇C mon of 
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the 80th Anti-Tank Regiment, H . A . ， F i e l d 

RogimGnt, R.A., 5th Fic-ld Rcgimont, R.A. and lltli 

(Indian) Divisional Signals, R.C.S., I 项as put on 

board the 'England Maru' at Singapore Docks. Wc 

vierc supposed to be vrhat the Japanese asked 

for. . . 'a party of not ncccssarily fit men for 

li.̂ 'ht v/ork.
 1

 Tho 'England Mp.ru‘ワas an old cargo 

ship of 5,000 tons, built in 1905, according to 

the- maker
 1

 s record plates. It
 r

.'as filthv, VGrmin-

ous, and the hold I フas confincd. in had evidently 

been used to carry horses or catt-lo before. There 

was dried cxcrcta on the v;alls r.nd floor, For 

three days vrc lay in Singapore TIsirbor。 I was in 

a bold about thirty yards by twenty yards crammed 

in ヮith 257 other men. Our food consisted of a 
/ 

watery soup -ith a fev; vegetables floating on top 

(about bclf a pint) and some rico twice per clay --

morning and. evening. At midday a snail mc?.l of 

rico only '7as provided. The only drinking "water v/as 

salty, it scGmcd to ma like stcamod sea water. The 

thirst vi&s macVcning.17g wore confincd in the holds 

and could not got at the water tank. Latrine 

facilities vcrc abominable, at first only four dock 

latrines for 1200 men. Tbis ，.’as later increased to 

eight. They v;orc wooden troughs always heaped up 
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with excrcta and in a filthy condition and flies 

abounded. Men wore allowed to the latrines only 

one at a. time, as diarrhea and dysentery was rife 

this was shec-r torture to men thus sffooted. There 

were no washing facilities, after tho voyage started 

^g were allowed on deck for approximately one hour 

per day. Three men actually died on the journey 

from the terrible conditions." 

My next document is IPS documont No. 5377, 

an affidavit mado by former Captain J. L . Hands of 

2/3 Machine Gun Battalion Australian Imperial 

Forces. I .lender the original for identification 

and the marked cxcerpts in 'evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT; Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

N o . 5377 will reccive. exhibit No. 1644- for identifi-

cation only and the exccrpts therefrom exhibit No. 

1644-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above 

referred to was marked prosecution's exhibit . 

No. 1644 for identification only; tho ex-

ccrpts therefrom being marked prosecution's 

exhibit No. 1644-A and rcceivcd in evidence.) 

THE PRESIDENT: You arc about to read . 

lengthy exccrpts, arc you, Colonel? 



13,273 

1 LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: That is so, 

2

 your Honor. 
3

 TIIE PRESIDENT; Wo will recoss for fifteen 
4

 minutes. 
5

 (Who re upon, at 104-5, a rccoss was 
6

 taken until 1100, after which the proceedings 
7

 • were resumed as follows；) 
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iv'JlRSHAL OF IKE COURT: T',e International 

I:.-iliiiiar3'' Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed. 

THE PRESIDENT: Colonel Mornane. 

LIEUT。COLOKEL MORNANE ； I vdll pop 

read from paragraph 2 of document 5377: 

"2. There were approximately 1000 

prisoners of war embarked at Singapore on or about 

the 3rd of J u n e , 1 9 4 4 , and it took about 8 or 9 

hours to embark the prisoners of war. There were 

about 750 Australians and about 250 Dutch. There 

were three holds in the ship and thu prisoners of 

war were accommodated in theso three holds. The 

centre hold had no top to it and it had been badly 

damaged either by a bonb or fire. The top con-

sisted of loose iron plates which freely let in 

the r a i n .エ myself was in the forward hold v/itb. about 

300 other prisoners of war. After all the men had 

embarked they were so crowded in these holds that 

there was net sufficient room for more than approxi-

mately 40 per cent to lie in a prone position at 

the one tirr.e. All holds were infested with vermin; 

lice and "bugs。 During the journey to Jnpan I 

frequently visited other holds and sonditions there 

were similar to conditions in the forward hold. A 

few straw mats v;ery provided but these were ‘ 
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insufficient r.nd for the most part the men were 

lying on the steel floor, no other bed accoi-nmoda-

tion whatsoever being supplied. 

"3. The journey from Singapore to Japan 

took 70 dcys. During the journey we called at 

Mari in Borneo and for approximattily two and a 

half weeks vjere in Manila Harbour but at no time 

were any of the prisoners of war allowed to disem-

bark, and th。y all stayed on the vessel until it 

reached Japan. At night tine those who were not 

able to get into a prone position had to sleep 

squatting down or oven standing. It was impc^sible 

for all the men to get sleep at ono tine owing to 

the extrenely crowded way they had been herded into 

the holds and they used to take turns of getting 

some sleep during the night and sono during the 

day. On rare occasions a portion of the men were 

allowed to sleep on deck. The occasions however 

were very rare and regarded as a great privilege. 

Permission was only granted on 10 or 12 days of the 

70-doy y-^rage for men to sleep up on deck. The 

prisoners of >/ar, however, used frequently to go 

up on their own accord in the dcrlmess but were 

generally located on deck by the Japanese guard, 

•who would then e.dministor beatings and herd then 
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below age：in. Whenever prisoners of war were dis-

covered on deck without authority from the Japanese, 

the Japanese cfter boating the men and hording them 

belov; again would thjn call out the prisoner, of war 

officers and adninister a sovyro beating to then. 

I myself wes beaten 17 tines on the voyage, approxi-

rir.tely 6 of which beatings were administered to ne 

tecause some of ny men had been found on deck 

without authority. The prisoner of war officers 

nada no attempt at all to stop the men going up on 

deck. The plight of the nen in the holds was so 

pitiful that it was just beyond hmian feeling to 

order then to stop below or to try to stop their 

getting the benefit of a little fresh air." 

Passing to paragraph 6: 

"6. Living conditions wore indescribable. 

The lice and bugs cause greet discomfort to the 

nen and th^re wert； no neans of getting ricl of the 

v ^ m i n .
 v r

hen it rained the majority of the men 

could get shelter from thtj r£in but a consid-.rable 

nuiib^r could not. It was a very wet trip and for 

the six weeks while mo vier^ going through the 

tropics it rained practically daily. '."
r

hen the 

men got wet theru was no way of drying their 

clothes 
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Passing on to paragraph 9: 

"9. The food on this ship was simply 

shocking snd was the worst of any of r.y experience 

as a prisoner of war. The diet consisted mainly 

of rice and dried fish which had gone bad. A small 

quantity of green vegetables were nade available 

for a few days after calling at a port. For the 

most part we were without vegetables. The nen 

rapidly developed beri-bei'i , pellagra and the 

usual results of nalnutrition. Their daily ration 

per man would be about 500 grarmes of rice. The 

daily issue of fish for the 1000 prisoners of war 

was approximately 5。lbs. Thure was a daily 

allowcince of a total of approxinately 12 lbs. of 

sugar for all the prisoners of war. We used to 

szve the sugar supply for about 5 or 6 days when 

there was sufficient to give each nan a spoonful 

each. Drinking water wcs nade available in limited 

quantities and there was never enough to satisfy the 

thirst of the nen. 

"10. Punishments, both illegal and ex-

cessive , w e r e o daily occurrence. Bearings were 

adninistcred particularly by the Japanese guards 

to the prisoners of wur, sonetines without any 

reason end soretin.es for coming out of the holds 
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without permission. One of the main causes of 

beatings was failing to salute a Japanese civilian 

guard whether the prisoner of war was an officer, 

NCO or not. On one occasion one officer Lieutenant 

Rutherford, of a Queensland Artillery Regiment, was 

very badly beaten up and as a consequence had to 

lie down for three days. 

"11. There was no RAP available for 

sick prisoners of war. The prisoner of war doctor 

was Captain Parker, of Sydney, ”.nd he was allowed 

a small space on deck where he could treat men. 

There was a little space on deck where 8 or 9 of 

the worst cases were alloved to sleep。 The other 

sick were forced to rer'Qin in the holds. Medical 

supplies were in such sncll quantities as to be 

considered almost negligible. Captain Parker made 

repeated requests for r.ore medical supplies but 

without r.ny result. Practically all prisoners of 

war were sick throughout the voyage. Approxi-

mately 9〇 P^r cent had recurrent nalaria cncl the 

majority for the greater part of the voyage were 

suffering fron dysentery, beri-beri and pellagra. 

Every prisoner of yar was suffering fron r.alnu-

trition, About 3 or 4 of the prisoners of war 

died on the trip. Cr.ptain Parker estinated that 
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if the voyage lasted another 2 weeks the deaths 

would have been very numerous. Two of the men 

died of cardiac beri-bori .cind one died of pellagra. 

One died of cerebral malaria. My opinion 〜vas that 

we arrived in Japan only just in time to avert a 

very heavy der.th roll. 

" 1 2 .扔 e arrived at Moji, Japan, in 

September, 194-4, cnc
1

： vjhen we arrived the condition 

of the men was pitiful. Many of then bed to be 

carried ashore on stretchers end a large number 

could hardly support themselves. They motq all 

scare-crows to look at except f^r ？^ne 100 or 

200 who were swollen with beri-beri. Apart from 

those who were suffering from beri-beri the men 

looked like skeletons with skin over then." 

IPS document No. 5158 is an affidavit by 

Captain Jcnes Forbes Lawrence of the Gordon High-

landers . I tender the original for identification 

and the marked excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENTs Admitted ^n the usual terms 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's docunent 

N o . 5158 will receive exhibit No,164ヲ for identi-

fication only, and the marked excerpts will receive 

exhibit Noo 164デ-A. 

('/hereupon, docunent No. 5158 



13,280 

was marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1645 for identification, and the ex-

cerpts t her of rem v/ere； marked prosecu-

tion's exhibit No. 1645-A and received 

in.evidence.) 

LIEUT。COLONEL M O R N A N E T h e first four 

paragraphs of this affidavit toll of the embarka-

tion of 1300 British and Dutch prisoners of war at 

Singapore on 27 J u n e , 1 9 4 4 , c-.tiC. their journey to 

Manila Bay on a 7000-ton freighter. All were 

thin, emaciated, half-starved and riddled with 

diseases such as dysentery, malaria 广:nd beri-beri. 

Thoy were almost naked. They were janned into two 

holds and were so tightly packed that groups took 

it in turns to huddle in a corner while others 

lay down. The atmosphere inside the holds was 

stifling. There wore insufficient latrine 

facilities on deck and none at all in the holds. 

Men too weak to go on deck excreted where they lay. 

I will now read pr.r a graphs 6
?
 7? 8 end 9 

of the affidavit. 

"6, At the i^nd of July thu ？'hip arrived 

in Mc.riu.a B27. We anchored one- ロile iron the 

whari- side c.nc! stc.yec! there for 6 v/oeks. During 

this tino nobody was Qllov/ed on shore. It was 
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only after dcys of agitation thet JOTANI ovontually 

permitted 50 of the worst casus to be tr.ken ashore 

to tho prison hospital in Manila. Of these, I 

hoard latjr, that 12 had died but so far as エ know 

tho renr.inder are still alive. The r^st of "as had 

to stay in the Iiofuku Maru。 Our ner.ls consisted 

of watery rice twice a day iind any leavings from 

the Japanese gcill^y. By this tine, after the long 

voyage ancl due tn the l.?.ck of food and medical 

supplies men were beginning to die. In Manila 

Bay aIons 104 people died. The doctors and the 

British officers on board were constantly going 

at the Jcpanese to get theE to allow some niedica丄 

supplies on board ovun if they refused to allow 

the prisoners of war off the ship. They refused, 

hoYJover. However, the American authorities in the 

prison hospital in Manila heard, of our plight and 

got the, Jr.panese to senc! over to our ship 3 cases 

of B1 capsules for induction. JOTANI took these 

capsules ancl issued then to the guards on bocrd 

the ship. Each J p .nese had a box of 250 given 

to hir.
1

.They fore eel our medical officers to give 

then the injections. Exactly the sane thing 

happened when some niltivitamin tablets w e r。 sent 

ov。r to u s . Thu prisoners of war got none of these 
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or any other nedical supplies wtir.tev^r。 Not 

content v
;
dth beating "us and starving "us JOT M I and 

NORO and the guards evdn broke up funeral ser-

vices tuhich ¥rj tried to hold. JOTANI hr.d given 

permission for "us to hold these, but as soon as 

thoy started hu raid the other Japanese would v/ade 

in with no.rlin-spikos c.nd anything they could lay 

thoir hcnc's on. 

"7. It would be impossible to exaggerate 

the effect of JOTANI and HORO on tho prisonors of 

war on bocrc! the ship. T'ucy r.nd セlie other guards 

ruled us by foar. Thoir sr.vage beatings c.na as-

saults on tho ren xiho had struggled up on deck, 

their conploto disregard of r.ll those siclc and 

their general attitude ind sadistic brutality 

towards us made life nn the Hofuku Maru an 

absolute h e l l . I t was a miracle to r~e that only 

104 people died. 

"8. The ship sailed fron Manila on the 

20th of Septenbtir. The sane people '；/ore still on 

board, thut is, Sergeant JOTANI nnct the others.
 T?

'
r

o 

WERU in G. convoy of 10 ships, es cor tec
1

, by two 

destroyers nd t\;o corvettes. There vjere no dis-

tinguishing signs on our ship to show thnt it 

contained prisoners of war, It rmst linve appeared 
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fror. the air or fror.： a subncirino as just an ordi-

nary cargo-carrying v e s s e l . V / e ware now kept 

definitely balow decks r.nd only so nany at a time 

wore allowed out to go to the latrines. 

"9. On 21 Septyr:ber at about 1030 \?e 

heard nnchine-gun fire and planes overhead. 

Everybody was below decks r.t the tine. A few 

seconds Ic.ter an aerial torpedo hit the ship for-

ward followed "by another botv;een the stern cnc. the 

"bridge and by a third directly belcw the bridge. 

Then the Ar.erican pianos began r,-achine-gunning the 

vessel and there was conplote chaos. The Japan-

ese captrin end his crew no.de cn instant get—sway 

by jumping overboard im:ie£iately。 SergeGnt JOT ANO 

and Sergeant NORO and the guards did likewise, 

leaving the prisoners of war to drown. The ship 

"broke in tv:o end sank in 5 ninutes. More than half 

of the prisoners of war were semi-starved and half 

paralyzed and had no chance. For the rest, they 

were all "below decks and there was no method of 

emit ond cltogether not far short of 1000 prisoners 

of M9.T went down 边ith the v e s s e l . I succeeded by 

a nirac'le in finding myself in the sea clear of the 

sinking ship. I hung on to a "broken-down banfboo 

raft anc! was in the water till 6 thct night before 
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being picked up "by a lugger. There were quite a 

nur.fcer of other British prisoners of war who had 

also succeeded in escaping from the Hofulm r:c.ru. 

Our only consolation while wu were in the v/ater wss 

watching the A'.-..erican planes sinking every ship 

in tho convoy excupt one. Th^ survivors, nuiiber-

ing 217, viere taken back to Manila on the 22 

Septenb^r 

IPS docuiient No4 ヲ146 is the affidavit 

of Captcin Saxon Geoffrey Dawes of Royal Artillery. 

I tender the original for iclentificction and the 

marked excerpts iu ovidonee. 

THS PRESIDENT 2 Adnitted on the usual 

t e n s . 

CLERK OF THE COURT； Prosecution's docu-

ment No. 514-6 will recyive exhibit No. 1646 for 

identification only, c.nc! the narked excerpts there-

fron will receive exhibit K o . 1 6 4 6 - A . 

(thereupon, clocment No. 514-6 

was marked prosecution's exhibit No. 164-6 

for identification, &nd the excerpts there— 

fron wer^ r.!arkecl prosecution's exhibit No. 

1646-A and receivecl in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLOKEL MORKAKE: The affidavit 

described a voyage on a 1000-ton froightor fron 
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Singapore to Scigon from thu 2nd of February to 

tho 7th of February, '1945. Two thousand British 

prisoners and 3〇〇 Javanese wure crGtmed so 

tightly that it -was alr.ost inpossible to nove. 

The atmosphere in the holds was suffocating. The 

majority had dysentery r.ncl \7dre too weak to nove 

to the latrines. The Javanese wuru dying at the 

rate of six n. dr.y. Rations consisted of rice and 

water. The Japcnesti ate th^ Allied Red Cross 

rations. No provision wcs nsde for the sick. 



13,286 

IPF docunent No. 5207 is ny n^xt affidavit. 

It was !?ade by former Lieutenant Colonel Eric Ken-

neth f-cott of the British Army. I offer the original 

for identification and the narked excerpts in evi— 

dence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual 

terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

i\
r

o. 5207 will receive exhibit No. 1647 for identifi-

cation only, and th<^ raarkod excerpts therefrom will 

be given exhibit N o . 1 6 4 7 A . 

(Whereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 5207 was marked prosecution's pxhibit 

No. 1647 for identification, and the ex-

cerpts therefrom ^̂ ！** marked prosecution's 

exhibit No. l64?A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: This affidavit 

states that a draft of 1800 British prisoners of war 

19 j weTP enbarkpd at Batavia on a 5，000 ton ship on the 

21st October,19^-2. A large number were not in a 

fit state to travel, nany were stretcher cases and 

100 to 200 collapsed cn the narch to the dock. The 

prisoners were crammed down fro? hatchways. They 

were so tightly packpd that it was impossible to lie 

down. Those imediatply und
r

-.v the hatchways were 
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drenched every ti^e it rained. fickness increased 

anc? thp prisonf.rs forced an omergency hospital. 

Neithpr blankets nor nodical supplies wore provided. 

On the morning of 26 October at Singapore 

thp prisoners wero disenbarkpd and hosed down. They 

were then marched to the roadside. Hpre they were 

ordered to take down their trousers and a glass rod 

マ,
as inserted in each nan' s anus. This was donp in 

full public view. On 29 October, 1,081 of thosp 

prisonprs were transhipped to another ship of 5?200 

tons. Thp ship sailed on tho following day. Condi-

tions were sinilar to those on the earlirr voyage, 

tickn^ss incr^aspr
1

.
T

*Tipn the ship reached Ho J i on 

24 Nov^nbcr, 700 WPTP sick, 280 b^ing Ifft on board 

as too sick to movf
5

.ドixty-thrpe had died nt sea and 

on^ had ccrnnittpd suicide. 

IPト document No. ^144 is an affidavit cade 

by Warrant Officer Alfred Pritchard of the Royal Air 

Force. I tender th^ original for identification and 

thp m.arkpd pxcerpts in ^vidpnep. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on th^ usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's docuraent 

No. 5144 will rpepiv广 exhibit No. 1648 and the 

marked rxcerpt th^rpfror exhibit No. 164-8A, 
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(XThereupon, prosocution's document 

No. ^144 was marked prosecution's docurnpnt 

No. 1648 for identification, and the oxcerpt 

セherpfrora wa^ marked prosecution
1

s exhibit 

W o . 1 6 4 8 A and received in pvidencp.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: I will now road 

paragraphs onn to five of this docu^pnt： 

" 1 . I wad nrisoner of war by the 

Ja Dane so at Garoet, j'nva on 20 Ilarch 194-2. I was 

despatched with a draft of prisoners of wsr fron 

Batavia on 2 ？ October 1942 ^nd was trans-shipped on 

28 Octobrr 1942 at v - i n g a p o r e to the DAI NIC HI ？'"ARU, 

a Japanese vessel of sorre 3
5
4-00 tons, which was built 

in the I/IITt-UNO^HO shipyard, I N縦 H I M A Island in 1916. 

"2. Thpre were about 1,5〇0 British prisoners 

of :'iar aboard and the total con.pleraent, Japanese and 

British, was about 4,000 ^pn in ny estimation. These 

British prisonprs of *var vj^re accommodated in four 

holds. I, mvself, was in th^ botton of No. 2 hold 

•which contained 286 nen, mostly R . ̂ .F. personnel and 

some R.A. I D^rsonally ^easurod this hold and the 

measuro^pnts verr 60 fpet wide by 40 fpet long. In 

the hold
 T

,vas storpd a largp nound of wpt iron ore 

clay and wp had to arrange oursplvos around this 

sloping rnound. No r^nn was able to lie fully strptchrd 
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out nor cruld WP H P flat down. 

"3. The voyage lasted for some four v;poks 

and sicknpss prevailed aftor the first week's sailing, 

We wprc providpd with a v^ry small quantity of wet 

ricp ancl dehydrated potato chips, dipped in hot 

？ / a t p r , twico daily at 1000 hours and 1430 hours 一 

n ration which was totally inadequate. We each re-

coivod only 1/3 rjint of drinking water per t^ny. There 

were no washing facilities ol"nny kind»
 T

'Tir?n wp era— 

barkeel clothed in shirts and shorts only. 
\ 

•"e had no change of clothing and no other clothing 

唧as issued aboard the vessel. The only provision for 

vrntilr.tion was thp opening of th° hatches on top 

of tho hold during fair weather. On m^ny occasions 

the hatches WPTP CIOSPC! for AS long NS t™O days at 

a ti^e- and during the last wnek tho hatch was closed. 

There wns no liphtinf arrangprrf-Tit in the hold and 

when the hatches ”'erp closed the hold was conplpt^ly 

blacked out. The hold was っIso infpst^d with rats. 

No rx^rcise was nrrrnittoc' on dnck. The latrine 

arrangrnents consistrri of two boxes on dcck for 

Holds N o s . 1 nnd 2, which vicre r^achod by a vortical 

ladder up thr side of the hold. These latrine ar-

rangements wcrp totally inadpquato for the nunb^r of 

men in these two holds. Whrn m^n b^cane too sick つで 
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wpak to climb the vertical ladder, they defacated 

amongst tho \iet ore In the hold. Practically nvery 

nnn suffered from son广 for，つf enteritis of dysentery, 

tfo^e ten r"en dipd in No. 2 Held and I was personally 

prpspnt at th^ burial of six of thoso at sea. 

Other ^.en r'ipcl in tho oth^r three holds, but I do 

not know hov/ r^^ny. Thprr o n
n

 ト-rpy nodical 

officer aboard, but he had practically no ！n^dicinos 

or pquipnent. No J'ipsnesG nodical assistance was 

provided. There appparod to be no nedical pquir^pnt 

aboard ns Japanese soldinrs thnms^-lvps ？.pproach^d 

the British nodical officnr for trnatnonセ.During 

the last wpek of thr voyage sone prisoners of war 

from No. 2 Hold v;ho were suffering from continuous 

diahrrea and dysnntpry wpre kppt on thn hatch of No. 

2 Hold, but these men sufferpd S P V^T P I V from expo-

sure- to cold as WP noarpd Japan. 

"4, The vrssol proceeded via Port Jaqu<=s, 

igon, to Formosa and from thorn to Moji, Japan, 

arriving about 27 Nove.'nbor 194-2. On arrival sor.o 

f o r t y， n fron No. 2 Hol^ wcrp lpft in the hold when 

we diserabark^d as thpv wptp too wpak to nove. I do 

not know でhat happr.npd to these a^tor I lpft. 

Many non died within a month of 尸is-

embarkation as a dirpct result of thp atrocious 



13,291 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

conditions and suffering aboard this V O S S P I . NO 

^lpdical treatment was available on disembarkation at 

厂つ;Ji 一 nor for some tvo nonths latpr. Deaths then 

corasod, i.p,, after we rocpived medical treatment 

anri carp«, Thp 1,500 prisoners of war aboard had all 

boen solocted as fit to travel when we onbark^d at 

Java and vip W T̂P all fit whpn trans-shipped at 

Singapore." 

My nrxt docunpnt is thp s'
T,

orn interrogation 

of HoDepuard. ！-'prgoant A . Van oloT^^stoin of thp 

Nethprl^nd East Indian Arny. It is prosecution docu-
1 2

： nent No. 5 3 2 3 .ェ offpr tho original for identifi-

13 

14 

15 

cation and thp irarked exc^rptrf in evidence. 

THE PREトエDENT: Admitted on th^ usual t^rns. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosocution
1

s docunont 
J • 

1 0

 丨 No. 5323 will rpepive exhibit No. 1649 for idontifi-

“| cation only; the narkerl excrrpts will receive exhibit 
1 8

 丨 No. 1649A. 
19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(//herrupon, •crnsecution's document 

No. 5323 was narked prosecution
1

s exhibit No, 

1649 for identification, and the excerpts 

therefron wore marked prosecution's exhibit 

N o . 1 6 4 9 A and rocriv^d in evidencp.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL IlORNANE: The affidavit 

states that at thp end of October, 1942 ho wns 
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transported by the Japanese to Batavia to Rangoon. 

エ will now read his answnr to the 5th Question in the 

intprrogation: 

"Countless people were cranred in the holds, 

エ cannot state the exact nunbpr; each of us had 3/4 

rr.2 spaco for himself and his luggage. This transport 

took about twenty-fIVP days ( WE WERE in the roads 

of Singnporp for three days without b^ing permitted 

to loave thp ship). At Ppnang thrpe or four boys 

tried to rscar)e, the two last oscapoes ^verp caught5 

onp of thori was cnll^a ' Pronk' (probably a Naval 

nan)，oth^r nanes I do not reraenb^re Th<=7 v^ro al-

most bpatnn to death on r
1

 eck by the Japanese puard, 

I was in the hold, so I could not witnoss thp a^ene^ 

Everybody was awakened. We heard the hits and kicks, 

the screans and groans of the victims. It was hor-

rible. In the norning I saw two of then; they looked 

a perfect sight: their eyes and lips could not be 

distinguished. They were tied on d eck and were kept 

in this position for about one week (sore food was 

supplied to then, and they were pernitted to go to 

the toilets; to stand or walk was next to impossible 

to then). 'Pronk' dipd as the result of the nal-

treatnents in jail at Rangoon: the other survived. 

The transport was tprrible. A heavy dysentery broke 
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out as a result of the bad treatnent. We hardly got 

•any rnrdicine. The excreta of the sick who wrro lying 

on the hatches seeper! down to where we sat oatinp. 

Nearly every day a corpse was buried at sea. The 

I/utch doctors did their utraost but were powerless 

because they had no neflicines, etc. One of the 

doctors was, if I am not mistaken, Dr. 'R^elink-

Kanp. 

Prospcution docunent No. 5324 is a statutory 

dpclaration by Liputenant John H« Benge of the Royal 

New Zealand Airforce. I tonder the original for 

identification and the rnarknd excerpts in evidence* 

THE PRESIDENT: Adnittecl on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Proseciition document 

No. 5324 r^ill recrivp exhibit No„ 1650 for identifi-

cation only, and the narked cxcerpts will receive 

exhibit No. 1650A, 

(Wh^rpupon, prosecution's docunpnt 

No, 5324 was narkod prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1650 for identification, and the excerpts 

thrr-efrom wore narked prosocution's rxhibit 

No. 165"0A and rpceivecl in evidence.) 

LIEUT. CQLONEL MORNANE: The dpclnrant states 

that he and five other prisoners
 T,

'crp t a k m fro巧 

b'ourabaya, Java to Japan about thp n id dip of 194-4.-
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The voyage lasted spvontern or ^ightpen days. I will 

now road the third paragraph of page 2: 

"That during the trip to Japan we were 

kept handcuffed to the wall of the cabin except whpn 

we WRRE r^ L E A S E ^ for SOEIA other form of ill一treat— 

"lent. Wo were confined two in a cabin, but we 

WPTP continually changed so that during the voyage 

I had as a cabin mate each of the above-named nen 

at one tine cr another during セhe voyage
e
 The 

Disciplinary Officer in charge of us was a 'two 

star
1

 I-,ty Officer, and I think his nunbrr was 

38368。 Hr- was a tyr.lcal Jap in appearance, ancl I do 

not know his name. For m reason at all he k^pt 

Captain ^syrons nnd rnysplf standing on tiptoe, tied 

by our thvnbs to the roof of the cabin for a period 

of fivp hours without a break, and during a rough 

Sf=a, I ？jas also forced to do ' on hands nnd feet 

up and down exercises
1

 with ny hands handcuffed 

close together. We were all forced to do this 

oxorcise, and if anyone could not keep going or 

allowed his body to tonch thっ ground he was kicked 

by the SisciDlinary Officer abovenentioned. Another 

forr of ill-treatment on this ship was that we were 

forced to kneel on a lattice-type of seat for 

periods up to thrpe-quarters cf an hour at a tine 
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y;lth our faces towards the v/all without moving. 

Thp guards behind us would beat our barp feet 

with a length of ropp and givr us cuffs on tho. side 

of the head, th^ idea being to get us to nove or 

fall off the seat on to the floor where we would 

be Vickod. I cannot identify tho guards who v^ere 

responsible for rating out this treatnent to us." 
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Hy next document is an affidavit by Sister 

Nesta Gwyneth James of the Australian Army Nursing 

Sorvico. It is prosecution document No. 5376. I 

offer the original for identification and the irnrked 

excerpts in evidence. 

THS PRESIDENT: Admitted on tho usual terms. 

CLERK OF THS COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5376 will receive exhibit No, 16^1 for identifi-

cation only. The marked excerpt will receive exhibit 

No. 1651-A. 

(''/hereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 5376 was raarkod prosocution's exhibit 

No. I65I for identification, ^no tho excerpt 

therefrom was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No, 1651-A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL 1'IORNANE: I will now road 

paragraph 3 of this affidavit. 

"In April, 194-5, I was ono nf a party of 

women prisoners of war and internaes who were shipped 

from Muntok to Palernbang in 3 small ship. "Jo had 

many strotchar ensos ^nd had to carry them togathar 

with our luggage down tho long pier at ！'untok. There 

we loadoa thGm on t 0 a tender and froc 二 てer:づer to tho 

ship. One patient died on tho wharfs <
7

、j ielt at 

one o'clock in the sfternoon. Shortly al'tar this 
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another ppt-i^nt cisd, stretchar patients nnd nursing 

sisters wero on aock without any protection through-

out the whole of tho trip. We wer.3 stationed in the 

Kusi River when darkness caire on. We stoyod there all 

night without any protoction v/hatovor and were bitten 

severely by mosquitoes. ''7e had no warm clothes and 

suffered badly from the cold.
 t

7G stnrtea again the 

next morning. The sun blazed down on us. It got so 

hot that the nursing sisters could hardly touch the 

patients - thoy were burning. Ths rGinaindor of the 

sick and other passengers Y/ore carried down in the 

hold xvhor 2 thoy wero compolled to romain for tho whole 

voyagG. Thero was no sinitntion w'nitsoevor on this 

ship and 75 per cent of those on bo?.rd were suffering 

from dysentery and dinrrhoea. One pntic-nt died before 

we arrived nt Palembang that ovc-ning, and another died 

just aftor we arrived thoro. In spite of our 

exhaustoc condition wo had to romove all the patients 

from the ship and put thom on the t n i n . " 

Prosocution document No. 5293 is an affidavit 

by a Dutch civilian,Isaac Samuel D i x o n .エ tender the 

original for idontific?tion, and the marked oxcerpts 

in evidenco. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosocution's cocunont 
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N o . 5293 will recoivo exhibit No. 1652 for identifi-

cation only. The marked oxccrpt will recoivo exhibit 

No. 16?P.-A. 

(Whereupon, pros-ocution' s document 

No. 5293 was markGG prosocution's exhibit 

No. 1652 for identification, and tho excerpt 

therefrom n marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1652-A anfi rccoivjc in evidence,) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affidavit 

stntes th it 1750 European prisoners of war, 6〇0 

Amboneso prisoners of vjsr, and 5500 Indonesisn 

coolies (forced labourers) wore put on a 5000-ton 

cargo ship on 19 Sopterribor 194-4, for transportation 

from Java to Sumatra. , 

I will now reno from the beginning of the 

second p ^ r a g n p h on pa go 2 . 

"Then the prisoners of wir were crammed to-

gether into one of the upper holds whilst tho coolies 

•�veri put into the second upper hold. However, before 

long all the prisoners of war h^d to be carried out 

of the hold agiin. The temperature in these holds
 T

«vas 

so terribly high that it v,'ns nearly icpossible t o stay 

in since lack of fresh air caused suffocation. We then 

were allowed to remain on the decks (partly). The 
j 

ship put to sea but let her anchor crop about 300 r.eterd 



13,299 

out of the harbour. Then ^ British prisoner of m r 

went mad ？,nd jumped overbつsrfi. The Jnpnnese thought 

this very funny until the Britisher ir.nde for the 

shore. He then
 T

.vns brought tnck on bonrd snd because 

of this event orders were given that all prisoners 

of war should be locked up in the holds. Since this 

W9S absolutely impossible in n decent wo.y, the prisoners 

of war were beaten into the hold. I 60 NOT understand 

how they managed to get room, but they were crammed 

together standing upright, since lying dowp or even 

sitting s impossible. Seven.1 prisoners of war 

were severely beaten. Personally I vns beaten Y/ith a 

heavy stick over the heac ？.s 0. result of which I wis 

seriously injured nnd bleeding (raedical attention wns 

given to pe by L r . Kuyper who wns drowned Inter). I 

lost consciousness for ぅ.bout three hours. I do NOT 

know the name of the Japanese bent me. 

"After the ship put out to sen at ^.bout four 

p.m. we woct back on deck again, because we could NOT 

stcnd the situation in the hold my longer. Nothing w?.s 

done against this by the Japanese. Food was bsd but 

sufficient in quantity, since nbout half of the r:en 

constantly suffered from seasickness did not t^ke 

their food. Lr inlying wnter however WQ S very short .?nd 

absolutely insufficient. Bathing ^nd washing wns 
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impossible. The decks were so overcrowded th*?.t those 

who could NOT find a seat, ？bout 300 prisoners of wir, 

were forced tc- walk constantly because the g^ng'-vcys 

had to be kept free. 
,r

7e were guarded by ミ Japanese transport 

comm?.ncler, whose name I GO NOT kn广,w nnc about 40 

Japanese soldiers. These guards started the second 

ter the ship sailed to ell？.11 prisoners of wnr one 

after the other to come to the bridge. Wedding rings 

and watches were then t?ken from us nno we were forced 

to sell them D.t ？‘ fixed price of five yen (Japanese 

currency) for a ring ？.nd ten yen for 。 wntch. Pro-

tests were of n o use, refusal w?.s answered by beatings. 

In this way hundreds of us were forceo to sell our 

belongings. 

"On 18 September '44 at 5.20 p.n�. (Jgpnnese 

time) the ship wr?s hit by two torpedoes ''.bout 25 rdles 

off the
 T

,vest coast of Sumatra somewhere between Ben-

koelen nna Paaang. One of the torpedoes hit her amid-

ships on the s t n r b n r d side; the other one hit the 

hole below ours. As つ result of this the ship s torn 

open. People -'ere pnnic-stricken, in p^rticul^r those 

in the holds. There must have been lots of casualties 

in these holds. Personally I wss on deck. I snw m^ny 

prisoners of wnr jumping overboard -^fter the first 
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torpedo hit us. These men ware ^11 killed by the 

explosion of the second torpedo. 'Vithin twenty minutes 

our ship s^.nli.I mnn•？.ged to swim sway frnin it, because 

I v'as .^frnid thnt it would blow up when the boilers 

reached the waiter. This however did NOT happen. I 

s t h e Japanese transport cnniir.'jn&er getting into a 

lifeboat together with part of our guards. !fany 

prisoners of w=r got hold of the edge of this 1ifebont 

but insteia of tnking them in, one of the Japanese 

chopped off their hands or split their skulls with a 

huge axe, 

"One victim of this sort ^f mnltreatment wns 

saved. His skull was split open and showed his brnins. 

エ saw him in Pad.mg prison nfterw?.rds whera he died, 

after medicつ1 attention had baen given to him by one 

of the two surviving Dutch doctors, D r . Vit^lis •っnd 

L r . Wa?.rcenburg. They 贾ill be nble to give full 

inforrMticn about this c.nse. I do not know their 

present address. 

"Our escort, consisting of 门ne destroyer 

•and one corvette, cid NOT do very ruch い rescue ^nd 

pick up survivors. The destroyer disippe?.red alto-

gether nftar having dropped its depth charges but carne 

back after some iiours to lend assistance. The corvette 

picked up about 400 survivors rnd they made straight 
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for Emnahaven. The destroyer picked up only っ very-

few Lien; those iho were very exhausted ana bee lire 

unconscious wore thrown overboard ^gain by tho 

Jnpanose ns I m s told l?.tor. 

"All tho survivors werJ t nkon to Pnd?.ng 

prison. The total aDpeared to be 276 Suropsr.n prisoners 

of wグ‘r， 312 Air.boncse prisoners ^f war, ana about 300 

Indonosinn coolies. Most of us were entirely n^ked. 

The only clothing supplied to us by the J?.pnnas3 w?s 

one pair of thin short pマnts por mnn. We wore treated 

very b?,dly. Naked ゥs xve were, ws were m d o to sleep 

on t he concrete floors of tho prison building with 

no blankets nor mats. Hygienic conditions v/e re 

terriblo. ''/hen we en me in this っ11 the Invn-

torios wers f u l l ; t h u s hr.a to raliev-3 ourselves on 

the floor. The smell wr.s penetrating ゃnd nausG^ting. 

Chances of contamination wore very gre^t. There v/as 

only one tap in this prison from which we got our 

drinking wnter. This meant that we had to stand in a 

queue for hours before getting a chance to drink. On 

the second day this t n.p was turned off by tho Japanese, 

after which we had to drink w e l l們 t o r from nn 

extremely dirty and obviously cont.^minatGd well. 

"Since rrost of the prisoners of '.vnr were 

extremely exhausted and weak because of the physical 
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っnd Dental strain of the past anys (some of the men 

reirained in the sea for マbout 57 hours) the number of 

sick grew very high. Beciuse of the Ir.ck of clothing, 

the bnd food «nd the bad hygienic circumstances ？nd 

owing to the fact th^t no medicines 切ere suppliod to 

us， r?.ny prisoners of war fell seriously ill (inflam-

7 i nntion of tho lungs, sunburn) mnd died, Within ten 
8

 d
n

.ys forty-tv;o of us hnd died." 

I drnw the T r i b u m l ' s attention t" the 

inconsistency in the riattar of antes in thnt the ship 

is stated to h。ve left on 19 September nnd t" hive 

bosn torpedoed on 18 Septenbo-r. I cannot s.ny which 

of those dntos is wrong, but tho dato has no pnrticulrsr 

relev'nce. 

My last document is an nffidnvit by 

Lioutonnnt Geoff ray Cndzo Hnrr.ilton, of tha Hoynl Scots, 

It is prosecution document No. ^ 1 9 1 . I tender the 

original for idontificntion, nnc the rmrkod oxcorpts 

In evidence, 

THE PRESIDENT: Adrittad つn tho u s m l terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5191 will recoivo ejiatlbit No. 1653 f^r identifica-

tion only; the excerpt tharefroc, exhibit No. 1653-A. 

(Whereupon, prosecution's aocur.ent 

No, 5191 was tarkod prr-sGcuticn's exhibit 
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No. 165*3 for identification,マnd the excorpt 

therofror;： wns r. ̂ rkod prosacution' s exhibit 

N o . 1653-A and received in evidonco.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL I-!0RNANE: This nfficavit 

stotos th°t l8l6 prisoners of vnr r^ero put on tho 

Lisbon I'nru at Hong Kong on 25" September 1942. Thoro 

were ':lso 2000 J n pa nose troops in tho ship. The 

prisoners wore grossly ovorcrowdoci and didn't hnvo 

room to lie down in tho hold. 

I will now ran a fror. pnrngr つ.ph 4 to p^.ragnph 7 

of tho affidrvit. 

"At about 0700 hours on the 1st October 194-2 

WG were- wiiting in tho hold for the morning roll call. 

SucGenly エ hGnrd a loud explosion ond the ship stopped 

？.nd tho lights wont out, We aid not know "^hnt hna 

hipponcc but a fow rren 刃ho wore nut on cock at tho 

tine- were sont back into tho hold and sentries were 

placed by the hatch to orovont anyone getting out ognin. 

None of tho prisoners of wnr nn. the ship wore hurt 

by the explosion nnd wc- lo?.rnt lator thつt it 們s cnussd 

by a torpedo th'】t hac struck tho ship in the coal 

bunkers. Tho troops in the held ramninGa perfectly 

ciln and thoro wns no panic. We hoard ths forv/?.rd 

3-inch gun firs- sever-
1

.1 timos -inc 1 l i t t l e later I 

hoard the sound of Japanese pianos overhead ana there 
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wero a nur.ibar of explosions which we took to be depth 

chnrgos. About two or three hours later requests 

wore nr.de to tho Jo panose to allow cion suffering 

frorr. dysentery ？>nd to use tho lntrines on dock 

or to be supplied 浓 i t h rocGp七-.clos, but the Japnnese 

refused “both requests. No provisions or bron.kfnst wr?s 

issued that morning a no nothing hopponod for n.bout 

fourtc-on hours. It was sOEG tine ifter d.^rk th^t tho 

Jnpnnoso beg.in t o batton do皿 the hatch. Lieutenant 

Colonol Stov/nrt of the 1st J'/iiadlosex, wh^ the 

sanior British officer on board, requested thnt ^t 

laast one bnulk of timber ba loft so th"t
 x

ve night 

gat つlittle nir into tho hold, but the Jr.pnnoso マho 

xvore on dock and b^tt^ning down tha holds took no 

notice of this request -ind nil the hatches wero tar-

paulined ovar the top and the vi/holo lot roped down. 

Thero wns no other nenns of axit fror the hold nnd 

as there wr\s no inlet 广’f air, conditions, owing to 

the lnrge number of men in the holds マnd tho nbsonco of 

lo.trino a ccornnodntion, boc?.me rapidly ^ovso. Someone 

mr.nnged to coniEunicnte with prisoners of v/nr in N o . 1 

held by tapping on the bulkhond ona nlso with NT. 3 

by word ::.f rハuth nl^ng sor.o sort ^f vant. Con-

ditions in N o . 1 hold vere sinilar t一. ours, but con-

ditions in No. 3 hold were ciuch worso for it ^as 
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making w?tor and the pris-nars had to rr.nn the pumps. 

It wns stated thot rr.on working on the pumps soon lost 

consciousnoss owing to tho oxtrome hont nnd lick 

-、f a ir. A m?.n coulc onl/ do p.bout six strokes nt tho 

purp before fninting. In Ko. 2 hold ^hare I w-ss, 

nlthough air conditions were similarly b^d, wa could 

renain conscious by lying fInt nnd tvoiding Tny 

cxerti ~n. N o . 1 hold reported th'-t t^o mon ĥ .d diod 

っ.nd I believe th-^t thoy were diphtheria pitionts, 

Lic-utonant Potter, vi/ho，:ns acting .̂s our interDreter, 

made repoateo requests for ",ir っnd ；vatar cr for nn 

interview with Lieutenant "WALA, and ->.11 his requests 

wero rc-fusec. The Jnp^naso interpreter NOMURA, when 

askoa fっr wn.tc-r by somcone from No. 3 hold, passed 

down a buckot of urino. I wns told this nfter-.vnras 

by one of tho survivors fron Nc. 3 hrsld. Luring the 

night 7]Q henra n ship como ilongs ice and some of the 

Japanese soldiers baing aisambnrked to i t . エ be+licve 

th^t oil th3 Japanese troops were tnken off this time 

because later I snw no Japanese cn b^ird the ‘Lisbon 

Maru.' Tho
 1

 Lisbon Haru
1

 WQS subsequently tnken in 

tow by another vessel and we could her.r the rippling 

of the ^nter against tho' plntes of tho ship. 

25 



13,307 

"On the morning of October 2nd 1942, ap-

proximately 24 hours after the torpedo had struck 

the ship, the air in No. 2 hold was dangerously 

foul. The ship was stopped and suddenly gave a 

lurch and it became evident that she wes going to 

sink. As all requests to the Japanese had been re-

fused for air and water, Lieut. Col.Stewsrt had 

authorized a small perty to try and Break out of 

the hold with a view to eskinp the Japanese to give 

us a chance to swim, and men with long cerving 

knives and dinner knives had been placed near the 

hatch reedy to break out wben Col. Stewert gsve 

the word. On Col- Stewert's order some of the men 

pushed their knives between tbe timber above them, 

cut tbe ropes, slit tYe canvas tsrpaulin and 

pushed some of the timber on ore side. Through 

this opening Lieut. Powell of the F..A.S.C., Lieut. 

Potter, the interpreter, and one or two others 

climbed on to the deck and walked slowly towards 

the bridge, asking in Japanese for an interview 

with the captain. The Japanese guards opened fire 

and seriously wounded Lieut. Potter (and he 

subsequently died therefrom). The others returned 

to the bold and reported to Lieut. Col. Stev."g.rt 

that the ship was very low in the water ard was 
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evidently about to sink. After these nen had re-

turned to the hold tbe Japanese guards cane up 

to the opening and fired, their rifles a couple of 

times into the 卜old. Lieut. Baird received a 

scratch from a ricochet and I v/as slightly 

wounded in the shoulder. Almost immediately the 

ship feve another lurch and settled by the stern 

and wf.ter began pouring into our hold through 

the hole in the hatch. I found out later thet the 

stern bad settled on a sandbank while the bows 

and a third of the ship remained sticking out of 

the water for about an hour. 

"As soon as the ship settled the men sta-

tioned at the hatch cut the ropes and the cs.nvas 

tarpaulin and forced away the balks of timber. 

The remainder of the rrisoners of war were forned 

into queues ard climbed out of the hold in 

orderly fashion. N o . 1 and No. 3 holds broke out 

at the same time as Ko. 2 hold but ！nany of the 

men in No. 3 hold, which was aft, were trapped, by 

the water and. drov-ned before they could get out. 

""'ben ve emerged on to the deck the 

Japanese opened fire on us from ships which 

25 
vere standing by and tbev continued to fire at the 
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nen after 让e:て had plunged over the side irto the 

water.
 Tr

hen I csme on deck t
v

ere were no Japanese 

on our ship at a l l , b u t I understand that at the 

beg inn ing when the first -nen came out there were 

some belf-dozen Japanese there. All the sur*-

vivinf men from the varj.ous holds msngged to clir.b 

up or were hauled on to the deck and about half 

of them had life jackets and they jumped over-

board. About three or four miles away 了 saw some 

islands and towards t'-ese islands a svrift current 

was running. There were about four Japanese ships 

standing by but these sppeered as inhospitable 

as the rocky islands, for they refused to pick up 

anyone out of~the water at the beginning. They 

had ropes dangling over the side, but any nan who 

tried to climb them was. kicked back into the we ter. 

I struck out for the islands to stert vdth but after 

about half an hour I ssw that tl-e Japanese policy 

had changed and the t they were beginning to pick 

our men up ancl so I turned and swap for ore of the 

Japanese ships. One of the Japanese threw me a 

rope and some of our men helped me up. Some of 

our men managed to reach the islends, but many 

were lost on the rocky coast. There were a 

nunber of Chinese junks and sampans about which 
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bad come from the islands. These picked up 

several of our men and the Chinese treeted them 

with great kindness, giving them food and 

clot卜irg from their meagre supplies, and looked 

after them until Japanese landing parties came 

to recover them. Tドe ship thc.t picked me up was 

a small patrol vessel snd carried on witト its 

patrol for about thr^e days、after which it put. 

into Shanghai, where the survivors on board were 

Isnded. T} ere all recovered prisoners were 

gradually assembled on the quay side. ?
T

any of 

the survivors were completely nsked and most of 

us only had shorts or a shirt. "'e all scffered 

greatly from tine cold. During the time I v/as on 

the patrol vessel we were kept on deck under a 

tarpaulin v'hich leaked badly end food consisted 

of forr hardtack biscuits and two snail cups of 

watered milk per day with a bovrl of soup on the 

third day. Two men died during this tine and 

the cold r
3

nd tレe e〕.:po?じ：re had a serious el':'？ct 

on our later health
 3

! ! 

I ；propose to read s short part of tre 

remaining prragraph,, 

(Reading) "By October 5'tb all surviving 

officers and men were assembled on the dock at 
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Shanghai and a roll c&ll was tskeh. Altogether 

970 answered their names, thus tトere was 846 

missing, but of these we later learned that some 

half dozen bad ！nanaped to escape with the 

assistance of the Chinese." 

That concludes the documentary evidence 

in support of this section of the phase, if the 

Tribunal pleases. 

I tender evidertiary document No. 

which is the synopsis relating" to the treetnent 

of prisoners of and civilisns in British 

Noj-th Borneo snd. Sarawak. 

.TEL' PRESIDENT J Admitted cn the usual 

terms. 

CLEFT or TFE COURT: Prosecation
r

3 docu-

ment Iv
T

Cc ジ449 will receive erY 1 bix No , 

(^n&reuron, the docじ!rent stove 

referred to vas marked prosecution's ey-

M M t Nc.16ブ4 anc received ？.n evifenoc.) 

L-^uI, CO^G^Oj, I^RNANE: Frosecutiしn 

document N。- 5C.(X is an affidavit made by Naik 

Chandgi Raio of 2/1ヲ Punjab Reginent. I tender 

the original lor l.ientificetion and marked ex-

cerpts thereof in evidence* 

THE FRESIDSNT: Admitted on the usual 
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terras. 

CLERK OF TI-
T

E COURT: Prosecution's docu-

ment No. 5C04 will receive exbibit No. 1655 for 

identification only, and the marked excerpt, bear-

ing the sane document number, will receive exhibit 

K o . 1 6 5 5 - A . 

( h e r e u p o n , prosecution's document 

No. 5004- wa.s marked prosecution's eyhibit 

No. 1655 for identification, the eycerpts 

therefrom be ing marked prosecution's 

exhibit No.165う一A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affiant was 

captured nee.r Kuching on 27 December 4 1 .
T T T

i t h a 

psrty of 212 other Indians he was held at Kucbin? 

for tvo months, Seria for a year and at Kuala Belat 

until-st least J u n e , 1 9 4 A t Fuchinp the Indians 

were made to work on the air strip. At all camps 

they were badly beaten. Implements used included 

rifle but 七s, sticks, steel rods anc
5

 boots. At 

Seria and Kuala Belat the sick were corcpelled to 

work and if too week to do'so were beaten. The 

Seponent had his teeth knocked out and bis collar 

bone broken as a result of ore of these beatings. 

Others were bee ten into unconsciousness and some 

died as a result of being beaten. Rations 
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consisted of some rice and occasiora'lly vegetables 

but at Kuala Belat because of the refusal of the 

Indians to fight apsinst the British the ration 

was reduced to a handful of rice a day. The 

deponent suffered from beriTaeri and malaria but 

vras given no medicine or medical treatjnent by 

the Japs. 

In one month 55 Indians died of stervstion 

at Kuals Belat. About 13th or 14th of J u n e , 1 9 ^ 5 , 

the Indians were ordered to fall in and were then 

bayoneted or beheaded by the Japanese. Affiant 

escsped this by hiding in the b u s h e s . 1 3 0 Indians 

lost their lives at this camp ircinding 65 killed 

by the Japanese. 

¥.y next document is prosecution document 

No. 5005. It is an affidavit made by Mahomed of 

2/15 Punjab Regiment. I tender the. original for 

identification and the narked, excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT： Admitted on the usual 

terras. 

CLERK OF' TFK COURT: Frosecution's docu-

ment No. 5005 will receive exl-ibit N o . 1 6 5 6 for 

identification only, end the marked eycerpt, 

beering the ser.e document numter, will receive 

exhibit No. 1 6 % - A . 
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("Tereupon, prosecution's docu-

. m e n t No. 50C5 wss m&rked prosecution's 

exhibit No. 1656 for identification, tbe 

ercerpts therefrom being marked prosecu-

tion' s exhibit No. 165&-A and received 

in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: This affidavit 

covers similar grourc
1

 to that covered by the 

previous eyh.ibit. In addition the deponent says 

that 27 prisoners died of disease and starvation 

at Seris Camp. 

Prosecution document No. 5003 is an a.ffi-

c'evit nsde by Haik Partap Sin?b of 17 Field Comp-

any. I tender the original for identifcation and 

the msrked excerpts in evidence. 

TFE PRESIDENT: Admitted on tbe usual 

terms. 

CLERK 01 TFr COimT: Prosecution's docu-

ment Fo. 5003 will receive exhibit No. 1657 for 

identification only, snd tbe marked excerpt, bear-

ing the ssme document number, will receive exhibit 

No. 1657-A. 

(hereupon, prosecution's docu-

ment No. 50C3 was marked prosecution's 

exhibit No. 1657 for identification, the 
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eycerpts therefrom being n?rked prosecu-

tion' s exhibit No. 1657-A and received 

in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affiant 

states that he was captured at Singapore on 15th 

February,19^2. Fe was taken to Lutonp Camp in 

Borneo in May, 1942. Frisoners were noセ given suf-

ficient food to setisfy their hunper； they were 

not given any clothing• They were msde to work and 

were beaten with sticks, ste;el brrs ？nd wire pliers. 

A number of Indians c®led at this camp, some from 

disease. 

In I
T

ay, 1943，with 70 other Indians he 

w£s trken to snother cemp sbout 9 miles sway at 

l-'iri. Fere the Japsncse unsuccessfully endeavored 

to make the Indians join the Indisn National Army. 

The Indians were put to work loading and unloading 

ships for nine hours £ day. They were braten as 

before. On one occasion the deponent couldn't 

walk for a month s s a result of s bee ting. Fe was 

sick with dysentery, beriberi snd malaria but 

received no medicine other tbsn a few pills. 

Fooc" was insufficient. 

On 23rd June,194-5, he saw the beheaded 

bodies of five Indians in a stream. Their hands 
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were tied beMnc
5

 thciir back. Tbey had been alive 

a week before. 

Prosecution document No. 5218-A consists 

of セwo statements made by Japanese Sft. Maj. SUGINO, 

Tswino, formerly of Borneo P I n t e r n m e n t Unit but 

since executed. I tender t.Ms document for iden-

tificetion and m.srkcd excerpts in evidence. 

TFE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual 

terms. 

CLERK OF TFE COURT: Prosecution's docu-

ment No. 5218-A will receive exh ibit No. 1658 for 

identificstion only, and the m.grked excerpt, bear-

ing the srme document number, will receive exhibit 

N o . 1 6 5 8 - A . 

(^hereupon, prosecution's docu-

ment No. 5218-A was marked prosecution's 

exbibit No. 1658 for identification, the 

excerpts tドere'from b eing rcerk^d prosecu-

tion' s exhibit No. 1658-A and received 

in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The document 

shows the.t SUGINO was ordered by Lt. Col. SUGA to 

take a perty of 157 European prisoners of war from 

Labuan to Kucbing. Fe took cherg-e of the pprty 

on 23 Jan. 4-5. On the viay 7 Indian prisoners of 
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war were added to the party. By 8th- June, 194-5, 

the remnants of the pe.rty rerc & t Cape Lobang. 

Forty—eigbt only were a l i v e , 1 1 5 bsving died of 

beriberi end malaria and 1 having been taken by 

the F o ^ F T a i . On 8th June, SUGINO ras told that 

a British fleet was approaching Borneo. Five hours 

later l-o rnrrched his perty out from the compound 

vie a jungle trsck to Kiarn Road, which they reached 

at midnight. On the following c"ay another prisoner 

died of malaria and beriberi. Twenty of tbe 

prisoners were beal.tby and t>e rereining 27 were 

sick. Fifteen of the hesltby prisoners were sent 

back to bring up stores. SUGINO then burnt some 

documents. 

I will now reec on from the merked ey-

cerpts stsrting on pege two. 

THE PRESIDENT:
 ,,T

e will adjourn until 

half past one. 

(hereupon, et 1200, a recess 

was taken.) 
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AFTEI.NOON SESSION 

The Tribunal met, pursuant to recess, at 

1330. 

MARSHAL OF THE COUl-iT: The International 

Military Tribunal for the Far East is now resumed. 

THE PHESIDENT: Colonel Mornane. 

LIEUT. COLOWEL M )融 N E : If it please the 

Tribunal, prior to luncheon adjournment I was just 

about to read from page 2 , l i n e 25, of document 5218-A: 
n

While エ was burning the documents about 100 metres 

from the house I saw Capt. 'Chambers
1

 (?) going into 

the house acting in what 1 thought was a suspicious 

manner as he was looking to all sides as he walked. 

Capt. 'Chambers' was amongst the party who went back 

and エ told NAGO, the civ. guard in charge that he 

would probably try to escape in which case he was to 

be killed. At 1900 hours 5 or 6 men lead by Sgt. 

Ackland jumped up from where they were sitting out-

side the house and started to run away. I called 

the guard to open fire on the escaping PVvs. In the 

confusion some of the bullets went in the house and 

caused the PWs to come out. As they came out of the 

house they were shot and bayoneted by the guards. 

The sick PWs tried to crawl avie.y and they were shot 
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that they would be killed in any case. After the 

PWs were buried at the road. I returned to the hcuse 

to supervise the burial of the others which finished 

at midni^-t. Some personal belongings wore buried 

with the PWs r.nd the remainder were burnt. After 

saluting the dead all the guards went to sleep." 

That statement is dated the 11th of October, 

194-5. I now read on to a further statement contained 

in the same exhibit； 

"SUGINO Tsuruo of Borneo PW Internment Unit, 

states: 

"I now admit thet the str.temont I made on 11 

October 1945 wc.s not completely true. I will now 

tell tho complete truth. 

"The information I gave concerning the killing 

of the 32 PW at the house e.t the mile Kiara hoed 

is cill true. 

"After the killing of the 32 PW,エ together 

with six or seven F^rmosan guards, immediately went 

to the 5 mile and waited until the arrival of NAGO 

and three c F o r m e s a n gur.rds escorting 15 PW, who 

rested on a small track le-ading off the roc.d and 

opposite us. Shortly afterward, L/Cpl. ICANBIvO end 

eight msinbers of the J H S H I M U M TAI also arrived from 

the 5i" mile. 



"I thought at the time that as food was getting 

short, some of the PW might try to escape r.nd I de-

cided that it would be better that we kill them. 

After the PW had been resting about ten minutes, one 

of the European PW tried to escape by running into 

the grass. I then gave the order to shoot the whole 

15 PW. All the NISHIMULk TAI and five or six Fcrmosan 

guards took part in the shooting. 

"After the shooting, some cf the PW were net 

dead, so エ ordered that they be shot and bayoneted 

as they lay on the ground. The man who hnd previously 

run into the grass was olso shot. We then buried 

the bodies in two grave's and エ sent the members of 

the NISHIMUKA TAI straight br.ck to 7 mile and to-

gether wittL my own men, I returned to 5i" mile to 

complete the burial of the P扒 killed there. I later 

went to 7 mile, where I spent the night.
11 
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LIEUT。 COLONEL MORNANE: My next document 

is prosecution document No. 5334. It is a report 

made by Captain M . J. Dickson of the British Army. 

エ tender it for identification and the marked excerpts i 

thereof in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK CF THE CCUP.T; Prosecution's document 

No.ヲ334 w i
1

1 receive exhibit No. 1659 for identi-

fication only; and the marked excerpts therefrom, 

bearing the same document number, will receive exhibit 

Nc. 1659-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred セo was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1659 for identificationj and the excerpts 

therefrom were marked prosecution's exhibit 

No.1(：59-A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT。 COLONEL MORNANE: The report states 

that on the 19th of October, 1943, a revolt broke out 

ir Jesselton, Borneo. About forty Japanese were 

killed. The Japanese retaliated by serding over planes 

which "bombed and machine gunned the villages north 

of Jesselton, razing to the srround every build in e 

in Kota Bolud and causing much damage and loss of 

life in Tuaran, Mengattal, Inanam and the surrounding 

country. This suppressed the revolt. To clear up 
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the matter, a number ぃf Kempei Tai were drafted from 

Kuching to Jesselton. During the following months 

they established a reign of terror, arresting hundreds 

of men and women on suspicion and torturing them 

to extract information about the guerrillas. Forced 

confessions were followed by mass executions； on 

cne occasion, admitted by the Japanese,189 Chinese 

and others were executed. Several hundreds of others 

perished in prison from torture, starvation or disease, 

The revolt was predominantly a Chinese 

affair. The Suluk people seemed to have taken part 

in it only on the first night. The Suluks inhabit 

a number of small islands off the West Coast of 

North B o r n e o .エ will now read paragraphs four to 

ten of the report: 

"Japanese Knowledge of the Suluks' Partici— 

Ration. 

"The part played by the Suluks in the 

rising cannot have been very conspicuous, for it 

was not until four months later that any action was 

taken against them. In February 19^4 an expedition 

was sent to the Suluk island of Mantanani. Although 

many arrests were made, it seems that the primary 

object of the expedition was to search for a Chinese 

guerrilla believed to be hiding in the island, and 
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the Suluks were not thought to be otherwise implicated 

in the revolt. 

"But a little later a certain Chinese, Dr. 

Lou Lai, who had been arrested by the Kempei Tai 

on suspicion, broke down after prolonged torture and 

gave the names of people who, he said， had taken 

part in the rising, or in more recent conspiracies 

against the Japanese. He named some of the Sul.uk 

leaders. Further pressure was applied and the 

doctor eventually incriminated the peoples of all the 

Suluk islands. The Japanese thereupon took action 

ap-ainst the Suluk peot)les, as described below. 

"MAI^TANANI. 

"This group of islands lies about twenty 

miles off the coast and is approximately sixty miles 

by sea from Jesselton. It had a pre-war population 

of 430. 

"On February 1 3 t h , 1944, the Japanese des-

patched a force to Mantanani, consisting of about 

twelve Kempei Tai, twenty-four soldiers, six native 

police and two Chinese interpreters. Their primary 

object was to discover the whereabouts of a Chinese 

guerrilla named Lin Tin Fatt. The Suluks refused to 

agree that he was on the island. The Japanese then 

arrested fifty-eight, of their men (whom they may 
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already have suspected) and took them back to Jesse]ton, 

hoping, no doubt, to force their' by torture to reveal 

the whereaToouts of the wanted man. All these fiftv-

eight were killed by torture or starvation in Jessel-

ton Prison and at the Kempei Tai office during the 

following weeks； there is no survivor of these 

fifty-eight. 

"On February 15th the Japanese went back 

to the island。 The events of this visit are described 

in detail by eight witnesses, Chinese, Malay and 

Suluk, and by four Japanese now held in Labuan. The 

two principal crimes coirmitted on this visit were: 

I 

、丄）The machine-gunning of Suluks, including women, 

and subsequent killing of the wounded, after an en-

counter between a Japanese search-party and a group 

of Suiuks； (2) Immediately following this the massacre ； 

of about twenty-five v;oir.en and four children. All 

witnesses stress the fact that the Suiuks had no 

fire-»arms and such resistance as they offered with 

spears and parangs was undertaken either in reply-

to Japanese fire cr in the protection of their women 
‘ 

and children. The Japanese burned the village and 

destroyed the "boats, thus showing their intention | 

of making Mantanani uninhabitable. Lt。 SHIMIZU, who 

was ir. charge of the Japanese, has made a statement 
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6 

admitting that he ordered the- killing of the women. 
2

 j It is expected that he will be brought to trial at 

Singapore. The other Kempei Tai on this visit, who 

are now in our hands, will probably be charged for 

different offences in this area where the evidence 

of their complicity is stronger. 

"The Japanese visited the island a "third 

time and found it deserted. 

"A ironth later, eight or nine Suluks were 

caught on tho mainland opposite Mantanani and detained 

at Kota Belud. Two of them wtre men, the remainder 

women and children^ the younpest n baby-in-arms. 

These were probably survivors from Mantanani who had 

escaped to the mainland. They were kept in prison 

for about six weeks
5
 and then executed one evening. 

A hearsay report says that they were offered the 

choice between shooting and beheading, and chose the 

former. 

"Two Kempei Tai,who are known to have been 

in Kota Belud at this time and were probably connected 

with the killing, are now held in Labuan, but the 

evidence of their responsibility may prove insufficient 

to convict them. The killing of these women and 

children at Kota Belud by the Japanese seems to indicate 

a policy of extermination. 
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"The population of Mantanani has been 

reduced by Japanese action from 430 to the present 

figure of about 125, of whom not more than 20 or 25 

are adult males. 

"DINAWAN. 

"This is a small island lying off Kinarut. 

It supported a population of 120 before the war. 

The present population consists cf fifty-four, all 

of whom are women and children under sixteen years 

old. Of the original population not a single adult 

male survives. One male has come from Mangalum to 

settle in the island, and one or two others visit 

the island at odd times for obvious purposes. 

"In February or March 194-4 all males on 

the island over twelve years of age, numbering thirty-

seven, were arrested and taken to Jesselton Prison. 

The women of the： island vigorously deny that their 

men took any part in the rising. Soon afterwards the 

Japanese rercved the "women and children to another 

island. 

"Vi/hat happened afterwards to the arrested 

men and youths cannot be known for certain. None of 

their, survives. Many witnesses have stated that they 

saw about this time Suluks being tortured in jail and 

at the Kempei Tai office but they seldom knew which 
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island the Suluks they saw came from. In July, 1944, 

thirty-seven Suluk men and youths were taken to Dinawan 

Island, by then cleared of its inhabitants, and 

executed there. There is evidence to suggest that 

some；, if not all, of these were the Suluks originally 

arrested on the island. There is no doubt that‘those 

shot included boys of twelve or fourteen years. A 

statement has been given by the officer in charge 

of the Kempei Tai at this execution and by two others 

present. There is no means of proving whether these 

men had been tried. But it is unlikely that a fair 

trial would have proved all the adult males of the 

island guilty of hostilities and deserving of death. 

The oldest male survivor is now about fourteen. 

"The women and children, who had. been removed 

to Gava Island, were kept under conditions described 

in the statements of Alagur and Sujiang, as a result 

of which about thirty per cent died. It was thought 

that a charge might he made against the Japanese 

trading company which appeared tc be responsible for 

these condition^ but when it was foiind that all 

members of the company had been returned to Japan 

a few weeks earlier further evidence was not collected. 

"SULUG. 

"This island lies off Tanjong Aru, near 



13,329 

2 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Jesselton. One report stated that a party from 

this island burned the Customs godown on the night 

of October 9/10 1943. The chief of the island, 

Panglima (Leader) ALI, and all the males the Japanese 

could find -- about twenty-nine -- were arrested and 

"brought to Jesselton. A statement is attached, by 

a reliable witness named OH TING MING, whe shared a 

cell with ALI and his sons, describing the torture 

of the youngest boy. The hanging of Ali was witnessed 

by another informant named LAJUN. All the twenty-nine 

perished in unknown ways； rone survives. 

"About forty women and children from Sulug 

Island were removed to BANGAWAN Estate in North Borneo, 

where they worked under corditions which they reported 

to the BMA authorities at Papar on their liberation. 

•They state that twentv-five of their number died 

from hunger and disease during this period of forced 

labour. Of the original population of 114, about 59 

survive in Sulug itself and the neighbouring island 

of Manukan. 

"UDAR. 

"These two islands lie off M e n g a t t a l . A 

party from Udar is stated to have landed and assisted 

the guerrillas at Mengattal and Telipok at the time 

of the October rising. All adult males were later 
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arrested and done to death. One witness saw their 

chief AHSAT flogged in Jesselton. Forty-five women 

and children were removed to Kimanis Estate in 

North Borneo, where eleven of them died. The popu-

lation, which before the war was sixty-four, is row 

reduced to thirty-five, of whom only two are adult 

males. I have not personally investigated the affairs 

of this island. 

"MANGALUM. 

"This island (reported oil-bearing) lies 

about thirty-five miles off the mainland. I did not 

investigate the. Japanese treatment cf the inhabitants, 

but it appears to have been similar to their treatment 

of the other Suiuks. A witness named Budin has 

described the arrival in Jesselton of fifteer men 

arretted on this island, and another witness, Bachee, 

accompanied the Japanese on a visit to the island, when 

they burned the kampong. 

"Suiuks in Jesselton Gaol. 

"I attach numerous statements describing 

the beatings, tortures, hangings and deaths of Suiuks 

in Jesselton Gaol. 

"エ received from the BMA at Papar a report 

by Maarof bin Abdullah^ translated and edited by-

Major R. K . Hardwick of the A .ェ . F . The writer, 
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who was in Jesselton Jail in May and June 194-4, states 

that the Su.luks in jail the'n numbered 258 men and 

women. He states: 'All died by beatings, from 

disease, by being dried in the sun, and about one 

hundred were removed at 1 a. m. on 17th June 1944 

by the Japs to Mile 5 and there shot. Three v;ere 

killed by slashing at the Jail door.' I was not 

able to interview this witness. 
U

I have not met or heard of one male Suluk 

who survived imprisonment. 

"Permanent Effects on_the Race. 

"There is probably at the present time a 

sufficient number cf Suluk children of both sexes 

to carry on the race and prevent its extinction. 

Their state of health.is, however, poor, and it is 

the opinion of Colonel Combe, an experienced administra-

tor who has known the Su]uks well in peace and war, 

that 'the loss of the adult male populatior will have 

a serious effect on the race.
1

 There will almost 

certainly be assimilated a larger element of Bajar 

blood. Some of their hereditary skill in fishing and 

other occupations may be lost for lack cf adult men to 

hand down the traditions of the race." 

My next document is an affidavit made by --

THE PRESIDENT; Mr. Logan. 
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MR。 LOGAN; If the Tribunal please, in view 

of the charge made by the prosecution in the opening 

statement of this phase I think it advisable to the 

first -- at least -- the first and last sentences 

in the Conclusion in this document just read made by 

the investigator of these alleged crimes. 

THE PRESIDEFT: Yes. 

LIEUT。 COLONEL MORNANE: My next document 

is an affidavit made by Bachee bin 0.K.K, Hassan of 

Inanam. It is prosecution document No. 5209- I 

tender it for identification and the extracts thereof 

in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CIERK CF THE CCURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5209 will receive exhibit No. 1660 for identi-

fication only. The excerpts therefrom will receive 

exhibit No.1ど60-A. 

(Whereupon, the document above re-

ferred to was marked prosecution's exhibit 

No。 I66O for identification; and the extracts 

therefrcm were marked prosecution's exhibit 

No. 1660-A and received in evidence. ) 
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LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE: The affiant states: 

"(1) thr.t be ？nd s numbef of Chinese were arrested, 

beaten and imprisoned without trial on the suspicion 

of having been concerned in Jesselton revolt; 

"(2) thft on first visit of Japanese to Mantawani Is-

land one Suluk was killed by the Japs and 58 others 

were arrested, trkcn to Jesselton tind imprisoned," 

He describes their treatment ss follows: 

"These Suiuks were teken first to the Kempei 

Tai office at Jesselton where they were each given 

a slip of pappr ?/itb their name on. I wss v.-ith them 

then. They were then taken to the prison. Every day 

after th?t, for a week or so, five 9V six Kempei Tai 

csme to the prison and took back a few Suiuks to tire 

office for questioning. I wss sometimes used aa an 

interpreter while the Suiuks were being questioned* 

The Kempei Te.i used to ask then what they I'ad done 

in the rising, whether they bad attacked the Custom 

Fouse or burnt the rubber. If the Suluk said
 f

-No
1

, 

ho wes beaten with s. stick g.bout four foot long, as 

thick as a police baton. They were bertep. all over 

thr body. Some of them during the beatings admitted 

having done v/hat the Jc.ps.nese said they bad done. I 

cannot tell whether they were true confessions or 

w
 h

 e

 1
 e

 n
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 M
o
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whether they only admitted these things because they 
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were beaten so cruelly. There were no trials. Some-

times I saw Suluks tied £.nd water poured down their 

throats till their stomach wss full. Then the Kempei 

Tsi would jump on the man's stomach or kick it. I did 

not see any actually die curing the torture but most 

of them were nearly deed when they were dragged away. 

Many of thrm died ef.ch day in prison as e. result of 

these tortures. I never saw or beard of any medical 

treatment being given them in prison. All the food 

th&y pot was a little sago. I don't know v;h?t was 

done with the bodies. I solemnly state that I per-

sonally witnessed Suluks being flogged £nd tortured, 

by eech one of the Kempei Tai whom I have named as 

going on the first trip to Mantanani. Other Fempei 

Tsi who had not been to the island also took part in 

these tortures 5 I don't know all thrir names. I do 

not know the nr.mes of any but a few of the Suluks. 

エ s&w Pf.nglima Ali and 0. T. Arsat flogged end tortured 

by MUKAI. I saw Panglims. Sibul flogged g.nd tortured by 

ENDO； I sew Tatung flopged and tortured by Sergeant 

Mr.jor HAY ASH I. I saw Masuki flogged anc
1

 tortured by 

HASSEGA
T

"A. All these men died e. few days after their 

beating in Jesselton p r i s o n .エ have no doubt that 

their deaths were in each case due solely to the 

floggings they had received by the men named. They 
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all seemed fit men before they were tortured. IKABA, 

NUKUSHINA, UCHIYArA, KIUCHI sind YAI^AKATA also beat 

severely in my presence Suluks v/トo soon afterwr.rds died, 

but I do not know the ne.mos of the Suluks they flogged. 

(3) that on e second visit to Mantanani the 

Japs took away six old mon. Later they told him 

that they had killed them. On the following de.y the 

Japs shot ( men end 50 women end children on the edge 

of tbe .i ungle and Is ter at E village tied up and shot 

20 or 30 women mc
1

 childron." 

Prosecution document No. 5214 is an affidavit 

by Tong Ah Seong. I tender it for identification, 

&nd the marked excerpts in evidence. 

TFS PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK or THF COURT: Prosecution's document 

No. 5214 will receive exhibit No. l66l for Identifier— 

tion only. The excerpts therefrom will receive exhibit 

No. 1661-A. 

(''Thereupon, prosecution' s document 

No. 5214 ws-s narked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1661 for identification, and the excerpts there-

from were mF.rkod prosecution's exhibit No. 1661-A, 

and was received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL J-
T

0RNANE: The affidavit gives 

an account of the shooting of the 20 or 30 women or 
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children on the second Japanese visit to Mantanani 

Islands. I will nov read the excerrts from the 

third psragrapb on page 2: 

"At length the Japanese e.ll arrived at the 

kampong, bringing some rations with them. Bachee ac-

companied them. The Japanese ordered Bachee to col-

lect all the gold rings ano
1

 the money from the women. 

He hended tb^m to me. Nine rings and about a hun-

dred dollars in J?panese currencj^ notes wore： collected, 

^ e n I arrived beck in Jesselton, ！'ASUDA, the inter— 

preter, took these from me. 

"MASUDA then gave the order that all the 

women were to be tied with thrir bends behind the ir 

backs. This was done and the-n a rope was rut through 

the be ck of their arms, so thr t the women were all 

strung together. The ends of the rope were made fast 

to two pillars in the mosque. There were about twenty 

or thirty women thus tied up, end about four or five 

children with them. 

"MASUDA told the women that SFII^IZU had 

ordered them to be shot because the Suluk people hsd. • 

killed Japanese. He spoke in Malay, which I understand. 

The women cried. 

"Then the machine gun w s fired into the women, 

The firing lasted only e. few seconds. ^ e n it stotnoed 
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some of the women were still slive. I s?w the Kempei 

Te.i go forward end shoot tbr wounded with their pistols. 

Everyone who c£.me on this second visit to Mantanani 

Island was present at the killing by the mosque, except 

for the two dead soldiers, the two wounded Kempei Tai, 

£•. smell partv of soldiers who were on borrd the ship, 

c.nd the nc.tive police who hsd been sent away just 

before the firing took place. 

"After the killing, SHIBIIZU gave orders that 

the kampong wrs to be burnt. ”
1

bon that was done we 

all went back to the boet v
r

bich we repebed just as it 

was getting dark. "
t

G then returned to Jesselton. 

"I never say; or heard of any Suluk in the 

islanc
1

 having firearms, 

"I never saw any attack on the J&panese by 

the Suluks." 
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Prosecution document No. ^212 is an nffidsvit 

by Begi bin Lindoman of Pirsan. I tender the original 

for identification and the marked excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRESIDENT; admitted on the usu^l terms. 

CLiRK OF THE COT'RT: Prosecution's document 

N o . 5212 will receive exhibit M o . 1662 for identifica-

tion only, £.nd the excerpts therefrom v/ill receive 

exhibit No. 1662A. 

(
y :

hereupon, prosecution's document 

No. 5212 WES marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1662 for identification, the excerpts there-

from being marked Prosecution's exhibit N o . 

1662A and received in evidence.) 

LIEUT. COLONEL HORNANE ； I will now re?.d the 

second, third, fourth, and fifth pcragraphs: 

"I wss arrested by the Jrpenese ct some time 

c'bout two yecrs rgo snd committed to je.il for theft 

for one year. While I wes in ；jr.il in Kots Eelud, 

8 Ein&dans were put in j a i l . T h e r e were two men, five 

women end one male child. Their h m d s were tied, when 

they crme in "but efter a while the hsnds of the women 

were undone. The men were never loosed and their wrists 

were cut by their bonds. I was not r.ble to spe?.k to 

them and they did not spe?;k emonp themselves. I don't 

know where they crrae from or why they were in .jeil. 
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They were in jril with me for £bout four weeks. The 

men were ttken out rbout six times sncl returned with 

he£:d end bodies swollen. The wonen were besセen several 

times in the jail in front of me. I could recognise 

SOME of the J S D S who hit them, but エ don't know their 

names. 

"One day at rbout 5 P-m. I wes eating with 

Angillcn, an up-country Dusun, when he said
 1

 The 

Binadsns are going to be shot this evening.
1

 I s?id 

'How do you know?
1

 He replied 'Because today we h?ve 

been digging their graves on the other side of the rnce-

course. 7Je were told it was to be their graves by 

Kolod (the sergefnt.) The hole was fbout one fathorn 

square.' 

"At r.bout 7 p.m. the Japanese fetched the 

Bincdons from the jail. One of the women carried the 

child on her beck. Their hrnds were tied r.nd they were 

marched away. About an hour later I herrd. one" bwrgt 

of machine-gun fire. The Binr.dcns did not come back 

to the jGil enc
1

 I have never seen them since. 

"The Japanese who took the Einadens were all 

Kempei Tni. The;/ hed red r,rm brands r.nd wore swords." 

Prosecution document Ko. 5211 is an cfficlevit 

by Sujisng, s Suluk women of Dine：wen Island. I tender 
2 5

 it for identification and the marked excerpts thereof 
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in evidence. 

TIE. PR： SIDE NT; Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Prosecution document No. 

5211 v;ill receive exhibit Mo. I663 for identificrtion 

only, and the mrrked excerpts therefrom will receive 

exhibit No. I663A. 

(^hereuiDon, prosecution's document 

No. 5211 wps mcrked TDrosecution's exhibit No. 

1663 for identification, the excerpts there-

from. being mr.rked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1663A snd received in evidence.) 

LII'UT. COLONEL MORNANE: The cfficnt states 

th&t s 

"(1) her husband rnd other men of Dinrwcn 

Island did not trke prrt in Jesselton revolt5 

"(2) 'rfter the revolt the j£つanese came to 

Ein.Gv;r.n and arrested rnd took awry 37 of the men, includ-

ing her husbrnd 5 

"(3) subsequently the Jrpanese deported 91 

women snd children from Din?.wrn Island to Gay?. Isl<?.nd, 

where 27 died from str.rvr.tion; 

»(4) rfter the Jpnanese surrender she returned 

to Dinnwan Island end there found 2 grrves containing 

e number of deccrsiteted bodies end 37 heeds. She 

recognized one of these herds rs being her huslinnd. 
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Prosecution document No. 5208 i&、c statement 

by Lieutenant NAKATA, Shinichi of Kempei Tr.i. I 

tender it for identification r-nd the marked excerpts 

in evidence. 

THL PRESIDENT: Admitted on the usuel terms. 

CLERK OF THE' COURT; Prosecution's document 

Ko. 5208 will receive exhibit No. 1664 for identifice-

tion only; the excerpts therefrom will receive exhibit 

No. 1664A. 

(Whereupon, prosecution's document 

Ko. 5208 v/r.s mr.rked prosecution
1

 s exhibit No. 

1664 for iderrtificction, the exeenDts there-

from being m&rked prosecution's exhibit No. 

1664A end received in evidence.) 

LIEUT。COLOIIFL "
T

ORNANE； The strtement cdmits 

thr.t the Jc.psnese shot about 40 Suluks on Dinrwan 

Islr.nd about July 44, end thpt Colonel NAC.HIC-TJCHI wr.s 

a spectator. 

Prose cut ion document No. 5213, r.ffidrvit of 

Lr.jun of Inanrm Island. I tender it for identifier.tion 

end the marked excerpts in evidence. 

THE PRESIDEHT^ Admitted on the usual terms. 

CLJ RK OF THE COURT： Prosecution's document 

No. 5213 will receive exhibit Ko. 1665 for identifica-

tion only, rnd the oxcerpts therefrom will receive 
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exhibit No. 1665A. 

(
r

iiereuDon, prosecution's document 

No. 5213 wes marked prosecution's exhibit No. 

166? for identification, the excerpts there-

from being marked prosecution's exhibit Ko. 

1665A r.nd received in evidence.) 

LIEUT, COLONEL MOHITANE: The affiant sr.ys 

that he wr.s arrested after the rising rnd detained et 

Kempei Tri office Jesselton where he sew a large number 

of people beaten end tortured.. Lc ter he became a werder 

at the j e i l .エ shall reed excerpts from the start of 

the fifth prragraph; 

"Duri'ng the time I wrs r wnrder, mp.ny Suiuks 

were brought into the prison. I never saw r.ny actur.lly 

arrive. I saw them in Jail after they r.rrived. They 

were not kept in my block with the civil prisoners. I 

snw Suiuks being questioned in the building エ hrve 

described, r.nd being tortured by the Kempei Tr.i. They 

were ner rly ？lwr,ys berten with hervy sticks ell over 

the body. Often I sow the wrter torture used on Suiuks. 

V'/hen the stomrch was filled with water, the Kemrsei Tri 

put r. wooden borrd on the stomach rnd then pressed or 

jumped on this, When the mr.n becr.me unconscious, which 

he usurlly did, the Kempei Tci dregged out the -body 

into the sun. I r.lso ssw the Kempei T?i rD^ly burning 
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fr.ggots to the bodies of Suluks rnd other prisoners, 

especially to the thighs. I did not witnc-ss cny 

prisoner dying during the torture,エ know from other 

wrrders th; t mrny Suluks died soon r.fter their torture. 

"エ never sew rny trial r.t the jr.il nor £ t the 

Kempei Tr i Hec.dquarters when I wrs there. I never 

herrd of m y one he vin£ r. trial In Jesselton by the Japs 

Arrested men were just questioned rnd bee ten. 

"I could recognise m:ny of the Kcmce Tri who 

took pr rt in the tortures ct the jc.il. 

"I Ccn only remember the nr.me of one Suluk 

エ s〔Y/ in j a i l .エ knew him previously because he often 

used to visit Jesselton. His nr.me was Prnglimc All. 

He VK.S one of some' Suluks 钌ho were r:lrer;dy in jr.il 

when I took up -my duties. I think he wr.s berten in 

Jcil but I did not see the ber.ting. But I saw him 

hrnged. He wrs one of four Suluks hrnged ct the seme 

timc. After the hrnging tho bodies were mat in two 

coffins rnd enrriod nwr.y for buricl by eight Drisoners. 

エ corId recognise the Kempti Tsi who were present rt 

the hanging. One of the prisoners afterwards told me 

v/hcrc the body wns buried 

I now propose to cr;ll Warrr.nt Officer First 

Wililic.rfl Hector Stiepev/ich, 
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、 Y o u r nnrne is '"illir.m Hcctor Sticpewich? 

W I L L I A M H E C T O R S T ェ C P E W I C H
5 

called as a witness on behr.lf of the prosecution, 

being first duly svorn, testified r.s follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY Lli UT. COLONFL MORNANF ； 

0 

A Y E S . 

Q And you are £. Wrrrcnt Officer First ctteched 

tc 31st Wcr Grrves Unit? 

A Thrt is correct. 

Q And your privr.te rddress is 128 ；Hannell Street, 
:

7ickhpm, New Crstlc, New South i
r

"r-les? 

A The.t is correct。 

Q In Februcry,194-2, you became r. prisoner ct 

the general surrender rt Singapore? 

I Yes, thrt is correct. 

Q When did you le.'
:

ve Singapore? 

A ェ l e f t Singrpore rbout the 8th of July, 1942. 

Q And where did you go to? 

A “ e lended r.t Scndrkcn on the 18th of July, 

And whr.t
 r

uc.s the name of the force you virere 

A "B"' Force. 

0 And how mこ.ny men were in thrt forcc? 

1942. 

with? 
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other food other t h m ricc issued from the Jcr^rnt se 

until cbout five weeks. Our first issue v/r s nrotein 

fnd vegctrblcs which crmc in rbaut five weeks ' fter 

which wr:s. fish,15〇 pound for the whole crmn, rnd 

f.bout c： hundred pound of vcgctrbles. Supnlies of fish 

r.nd vogctc blcs were Ft regi lcr intcrvrls in the crrly 

stages after thrt. 

Q Well, now, with rc-grrd to working parties, 

whr.t wr.s first done cbout them? 

A Approximrtely r.fter five weeks -- r fter we 

hrd been five weeks in the- 8 Mile Cr:mp, the demrnded -

300 for c. working p〔.rty to construct f rocd end rlso 

300 for aerodrome construction. 

0 " hat wrs the first incident of import'；nee 

th: t took plr.ee- rftcr the •；/orking n: rties were strrted? 

A The further demrnd for raorc men to go out on 

work pcrtics incrersed to 800 for the drome. There 

.we.s rlso demc.nds for other working nr.rtits
 9
 construc-

tion work pr rtios, brought it up to rbout 1100 -Dcoule 

required out of the crmp on working nrrties. Fcrly in 

September some prisoners of v/rr cscc.pcd. The re suit
J 

of these prisoners cscrping, the crmp 服s mrss punished, 

The punishment wr.s stoppage of our food for r rtcriod. 

Q To whom did thrt punishment ppr)ly
r 

A The whole of the ccmp. 



ェ 年 ひ 

STICPEWICH DIRECT 

A 1496. 
r

； Fell, then, -fter you landed rt Sr ndnkrn where 

aid you go? 

A e proceeded to r Crtholic school! up on the 

hill rbove Srndrkr.n. “ stcyed there duriig the night. 

Q Where did you go or. the following a y? 

Onた to the 8 Mil9 Camp knovm rs the ^.griculturrtL 

Strtion, S;.ndckc.n. 

Q L m how long did ycu stcy thi re, yoursol'f
9 

A From thr.t drte up to 29 Mr.y 194-5. 

Q
 r

"h:;t wrs the cccoraJocirtion like r.t thrt crm o? 

A Qr.itc inadequate fc«r the number of ”f rsons 

required in it. 

Q And whrt wrs the wcf.cr simply? 

K The wrter supply wc.s drewn fron c filthy creeki 

cbout three-qucrters of r. milo cv;cy by ••、 rium^ing ser-

vice ,pumped up into r： reservoir holding 27C0 gallons 

whir:h wr.s considered by the Japrnesc c. dry's rrtion of 

wr.tcr for the crmp for rll purposes. This wr.ter wr.s 

vcTy muddy rnc. full of brctcri;. 

Q Well, now, with rcg;:.rc to the food n
0 s
ition 

?:t thrt time, v;hr t \:c.s it? 

A
 r

 hen wc first cnt red "the 8 llile Cr.mp we were 

issued r dr.i'Ly rp^i-oximr te rrtion of 16 or 17 ounces 

of ricc per d-^y. Nc got no oth r vegetables or r.ny 
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Q 勤 e丄丄， t h s r i， w h r t v/n s the next mr tter of 

imp or tr nee thr.t took plrce? 

A On ；bout the 12th of September in the morning 

v;e v/e re ell called on p£irc.dc, everybody. YJc were 

surrounded by c Icrge number of r.rmed gur.rds who hrd 

rrms from outside which covcred us with mr:chine guns, 

i nd surrounded by other gur.rds with rifles, fixed 

bcyoncts. Then the J?: panese cr:mp commandrnt, Lieutcnr.nt 

HOSIGIMA, got on the plrtform rnd gr.vc a speech in 

Jc,pc.nesc. Then he rerd out n document th' t he hrd in 

his hr:d. It wcs then trr.nslrted into English by his 

interpreter. The document wrs to the cffect thrt if 

any person or prisoner r ttemoted to csccrje that he 

knew the.t we ell world be shot5 2. thrt we would promise 

not to cscapc5 rnd the third item on thrt document wr.s 

thr.t we would promise thrt we vrov.ld obey rll the 

orders issued by the. Imperir.1 Jcprnese Army. It wrs 

then hr.nded to Colonel Welsh, Airforce Commander, v/ho 

then got on the plr.tform r.nd read thr.t document こgrin. 

And then he strted , "I, for one, v/on' t sign." He wc.s 

never given c. chcncc to finish whrt he intended to 

soy, but he wr.;s drrgged down off the plctform, trken 

outside the crmp under Lieutenant HOSIGIMA's orders, 

tic-d up with his hrnds behind his br.ck. Then HOSIGIMA 

csllcd for r； firing prrty, gurrds formed urj in front 
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of Colonel Wr.lsh. On seeing whr t wc:s goinp to he ripen, 

end realizing v;c were being forced to si?n this docu-

ment under duress, wc cclled out, "Don't shoot the 

colonel.
 T

.'e will sign." The wording of the document 

wes slightly altered rnd \\
r

c signed. 
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S T I C P M I C H DIPtECT 

Q Wo 11,no\7, T./hon the working parties started 

the airdrome, have you. anything more to say on that 

matter -» General Walsh? 

A Y c s ， I do. Ho res released then, when it 

[つ.s known that v/c
 T

/;orc going to sign, Colonel Wr.lsh 

was released and. returned to cr.mp. 

Q ?
T

hcn the working parties v;cre called for 

tho airdrome wr.s any protest made? 

A It Yjo.s about a week before v/c realized 

that Y.'hcrc xic ？zero working was to build an airdrome. 

Whon that XJC.s found out A protest was made to 

Lieutenant HOSIGIMA. 

THS MONITOR: How do you spell that? 

THE “
 T

IT>IES° ； H-O-S-I-G-I-M-A. 

0 What rss sricl on t.hc.t protest? 

A That wc understood that the airdrome v;c.s 

a military pro.icct that it was intended to construct 

and it vr.s contrary to inter national law to h?.vo 

prisoners of '；/ar to work on that construction; r.nd 

they said the working parties T?ould go on and ho 

referred to an address given to the co.mp and stated 

that vc would work on that airdrome, and it had to 

be completed in throe yenrs; and, if ncccssc.ry, wc 

would T7ork until-JG died. On the first visit to the 

camp of Colonel SUGA, vho was in char go of the 

p-'iso：!：. rs of • r o,?-11 of th' c"： ps o;? p^i^ciicrs 
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of war in Borneo e. further protest wns made to him 

and ho stated on parado thnt it was & commcrcinl 

civil projcct and tho v-ork had to go on. 

Q Could you sr.y ^hcthc-r, in fr.ct, that drome 

upon completion マr:s used, for military aircraft or 

not? 

A Yes, the first planes took off from that 

drome, war pianos, fighter planes, in Soptcmbcr, 

194-3, and it was right up until Dcccmbcr, 1944, 

extonsivols'' used for all types of plr.ncs. 

Q Well, not;, Tv'hr.t vc.s tho position with 

regard to treatment of prisoners from c. disciplinary 

point of view at the time of SUGA's visit. 

THE MONITOR: Up to whose visit? 

LIEUT. COLO駕L MORNANE: SUGA's visit. 

A Other than the incident of mass punishment 

for an r.ttcr^ptcd cscapc, lust minor incidents for 

breaking of camp discipline, it v/r.s not so bad. 

There were frequent beatings of prisoners of war on 

working parties. 

0 And then after SUGA' s visit whr.t wr.s the 

position? 

A Tho discipline tightened up to such an 

extent that it ” /as cruol. It crmo right down to 

irritation tactics administered
1

 by the guards, 
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general boatings of working parties nt the drome--

airport. 

Q Well, then coining to April, 1943, r/hat 

have you got to say as to the position then? 

A Then there- T;C.S a ncv? set of guards took 

over control of the camp, known c.s the "Prisoners 

of Tar Guard Unit。
11

 It ？;as knoi;n to us c.s the 

"Kitchic" -- smnll soldiers. 

Q What did thoy do? 

A Thoir treatment towarc
1

 prisoners of 

v?as twico qs bad as thnt of the other soldiers 珂ho 

had previously been pjup.rds at the camp. They 

wouldn
1

1 have to hc.vo a rccison。 They 7?ould etop 

a prisoner on any prctcnco r:t all and slr.p him, beat 

him r.round. 

Q What happcnc-d
 (
?.t the drome c.t that time? 

A At this time the drome construction unit 

vhich -vn s in chargc of Li utcnr.nt OKAHARA 一一 in 

chargo of us up till then -- ho 巧as 7'ithdravm and 

then they put n spccial gr.ng of old soldiers 一一 

"Bnshcrs" wc called thom 一一 to administrate the 

working parties. After OKAHARA left they hr.d. a 

spc-cial gang of "Bashers." 

THE MONITOR: "Bashors" ~ you mean somebody 

v;ho bnshes? 
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THE WITNESS； Yes, bashes. 

Q Will you dcscribc to the Tribunal what thst 

gang did? 

THE PRESIDENT: Wc will take his c.nsv/or 

r.ftor the rccc-ss. Wc will rcccss for fifteen minutes. 

(Whereupon, at 1445, a rcccss 

was taken until 1500, r.ftor v;bich the 

proceedings were resumed as follows:) 
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I/Ii\RSKAL OF THE COURT ； The International 

Militc?.ry Tribunal for the Fp.r S?.st is now resunad. 

THE P R E S I D E D :
 rr

tj ary having great 

difficulty in hue.ring what this witness is scyi-ig. 

Me nust speak up or spoak closer to tiie microphone. 

Yes, Colonol. 

EY LII:UT。COLONEL MORNANE (Cont^ ); 

Q Before the adjournment I asked you to 

describe to the Tribunal what this special sec-

tion of nen did. 

A Our duties vjere to go 'rounc
1

. the work 

parties, go
 1

 round the airclrone r.nd other vvork 

p a r t i e s r o a d parties, and these parties VJCUIcI be 

working in batchys of 50. They would visit these 

working parties, whatever v;ork he was doing. In 

soma instances there was nen down trenches, digging 

artesian drains. They would take over the drain, 

thuse parties, work nr.rties, would be working in 

the drain -- in sone instances digging an artesian 

drain. This special gang or special tean of 

soldiers, cbout eight in all,would c^ne along 

and order the party cvut of the drain, or r:hatever 

work they was doing. They would be stood to 

attention, cnc； these Japanese 一一 special Japanese 

guards 一 一 as I scid previously, cbout eight in 
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rrunber -- were nrmecl with pick handles, canes, 

and other inplenents used to "belt the prisoners 

of war with. Now they would stand the gang -- this 

party of -nrisoners -- to attention, with their arns 

outstretched, an-c! they would go along behind then, 

"belting then uncor tho arns, over the shoulder, 

r.nywhere at a l l ; t h e y wery not particular where 

they hit a prisoner of war or \ihc.t they hit him 

yitli. This punishnont would last, c.t tines, up 

to t^unty ninutes, as an average. The whole party 

v.:ould bo beaten, c.nc!, if a prisoner shovi?ed signs 

of pain, he would got r.-ore. 

Q Now, t would be the physical results 

to the prisoners? 

A It 诏ould be 一一 the result would be that 

some prisoners would be taken back ecch night to 

ennp^ either carried back on stretchers as being 

rendered unconscicus, or a m broken or leg or hips 

broken, or just badly beat-up condition; nen were 

so weak. 

Q 町hat was the food： position in April, 1943? 

A I would like to add further to the p-unish-

nent on the drone. Irrespective of whet working 

party was in cit the drone, you never knew when it 

was going to be punished, just cone 'round your turn, 
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or whether you was doing r.nything, or doing any-

thing contrary to the Japanese idea or not, you 

were punished. 

Q What wcs the food position in April, 1943? 

A The nore Vi/e complained about this treat-

ment ct the dror.e the rore intense the punishment 

w a s . 

Q Will you please answer ny questions, 

witness? What was tho food position in April, 1943? 

A At tho end of A。ril, 194-3, our ration was 

reduced to abof.t half. 

Q F e l l , n o w , with regard to punishment of 

prisoners who were brought before the Ccnp Con-

nnnclant, will you tell the Court what punishnynt 

was inflict eel upon then? 

A They woulc! be apprehended and put in 

cages. 

Q Will you describe to the Tribunal the 

first of these cages? 

A The first cage was a heavy, wooden con-

struction, about 4 feet, 6 wide, about 5 feet, 6 --

6 feut long, and 2 foot, 9， or 3 foot high, wooden 

floor, wooden roof, flat. The floor and ceiling 

was heavy plank, and the walls were about 2 by 2 

bars, 2-inch spacing. There wr‘s a snail door 
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2 feet by 18 inches, which you had to crawl in. 

Q Well, new, would j^ou tell the Tribunal 

of an instance where you have seen nen put in the 

cage, and how lie was treated? 

A There was one exaraple, Private Hinchcliffe. 

He was apprehended at the r.irport for being avjay 

frop his party. Hinchcliffe's purpose away from 

the pcrty was in search of fallen coconrrats to 

supplement his food. Thuy full off the tree to 

the ground, and he picked then u p . He wes only 

caught a short distance Gway fron his party, but he 

had the neat of tho cocoanut in his possession. 

He VJCS talien back to the camp fron the airfield, 

air-port, cirdrone, and placed in front of the guard-

house, first standing to attention.
 r

,
T

Uile he was 

standing there for ovじr an hour he wns subjected 

intermittontly to beatings fro]ニ the guard who were 

in the guard box, as many as four at a tine. Ho 

vi/as beaten with a stick, a replica of a Sannrai 

sword, one the guard had ； another gur.rd had a bocrd ； 

others kicked hin. The secon《. in charge of the 

Japanese guard, Lieutenant MOROTIKI, cane along 

then r.nd ordered him to be put in the cage. Daily, 

ct frequent intervals,エ sow Hinchcliffe taken out 

of the cage and beaten by the guards. He v;as not 



13,357 

STICPE , ? TICH DIRECT 

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1

0

1

1

じ

1

3

1

4

1

5

1

6

ロ

1

8

1

9

2

0

,

2

1

ロ

2

3

2

4

2

5
 

allowed any food for seven days. 

A And during th..-； clay, while he wcs in the 

cage, hovj would ha have to sit? 

A He would have to sit to attention; and 

if he relaxed at all he w u l d be brought out of 

the ca^u end beaten. 

Q Now, can you give ne cn estimate of the 

nuraber of riun you have seen given the "cage" treat-

nunt? 

A At least 40. 

Q 口ell, n o w c o n i n g to August, 1943, will 

you tell us what happened them? 

A During August,194-3, there was a series 

of searches of th。：canp, \lc lee.rnecl that the 

Japanese； suspected us of having a wireless set. 

This was confirned by the finding of a diary during 

the search, ncl one particular r.ftornoon Captain 

HOSIGIMA came to the canp £-.nd called for No. 142, 

prisoner cf war 5 I think that was the ntu^ber. It 

turned out to be Lieutenant Wells who cane forward. 

HOSIGIMA v, this tine was a Captain, and he con-

fronted Wells. He says, "Mr. ”
r

ells
 5
 I am surprised, 

Is this your diary?"
 ,fr

ells hesitated, and snid 

"yes." He says, "You are a foolish young nan. 
w

,hc.t clid 3,011 write this for?" 



13,358 

STICPE , ? TICH DIRECT 

Q
 r

'hat did he do to Walls? 

A Ky then seized ^ylls, slacked Wells 

across the face, and then seized hin by a necker-

chief which he had around his neck and twisted it 

u p , and, at tW： same tinu screwing it up, continued 

striking him about the face with his fist. Then 

he askecl Lieutenant Foils, "Y/here is the radio 

referred to in this diary? Show it to r.e." 

THE PRESIDENT? Fe do not want all these 

details. We m i l never finish. There are ten 

thousand episodes like this. Vc cannot hear all 

the details. 

heppenec! to Wells? What was done to 
• “ ！ 

hin? 

Q ^hat was done to Y^ells? 

A Wells was tied up and taken out of the 

camp by the Kenpetais along with about twenty-six 

others fron tile camp, including sone senior 

officers. 

THE PPUDliiNT; Did ハ,ells nalce an affi-

davit? I thought I sa\i his name in an affidavit 
i 

here； 

LIEUT. COLONEL MORNANE; Yes, yoiir Honor. 

THE PRESIDENT； Are you not satisfied to 

rest on ^ells
1

 affidavit? He covers the sane 
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gr ouiid. 

LIEUT. COLONEL M O R N A M I an quite 

satisfied, your Honor, but I thought this r.orning 

you were anxious to have the excerpts. 

BY LIEUT。 COLONEL K。RNANE (Continued)s 

Q Were you, ノアorrs〔:lf
y
 evur in the eage? 

A Yes, I was in the ^e after this inci-

clent. 

Q Will you describe the truatnont that you 

received? 

A I was tied up and interrogated -- the 

following night I was arrested, tied up and in-

terrogated from five o
r

clocl: in the evening until 

half-past one in the norniiig. TVJO other soldiers, 

including myself, were pu.t into the cage -- the 

snail cage^ and in that cage there was three 

officers, three captains, and a private. That 

made a total of seven. 

Q For how long were you kept there? 

A I think it was four nights arid three 

days. 

Q Did you receive any nosquito curtains or 

blankets while you were there? 

A N O , 

Q V
T

cre you let out of the cage at all? 
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A In the morning about syven o'clock and 

about five o'clock in the evening. 

Q W e l l , n o w , did r,ny additional troops 

arrive at that camp? 

A About the end of March, 1943, there was 

a party of English prisoners of war brought to 

Sandakan. The rarty consisted of 740, approxi-

mately. 

Q
 T

'
r

ervi they in the same camp as you or in 

an adjacent camp? 

A At first they n&s quarturocl at the air-

drone, こnd later c^ne into an area adjacent to our 

canp at end of Juno. 

Q Well, apart fron those troops
 9
 did any-

other troops come into the camp? . 

A There was a force of Australians known 

as "E' Fcrco
?
" t'hat come into the adjacent canp 

on the first of June, '43. 

Q And how many were in that force? 

A Five hundred. That nade three separate 

camps: N o . 1 Camps, No. 2 Canps -- the English ~ 

No. 3 Canps of 500 Australians. 



13,361 

STICPS^ICH BIRECT 

Q Did you know of any man that died in the 

cage as a result of his treatment? 

A Yes, a Private Barber. 

0 In the first year you were at that camp 

how rcarr，died? 

A Approximately twenty-four. 

0 And wbst did they die of? 

A Beriberi, mainl3% Other lack of -- just 

general disability. 

C "Tnat was the position with regf-rd to food 

at the erd of 

A ，e were reduced then to a ration consisting 

onl3” of tapioca and sv'eet potatoes end a small 

quantity of greens, and four ounces of rice. 

0 Coming to the end of January 1045, 

happened then? 

A At the end of January around about the 

25th, there was a demand come to the camp requir-

ing 500 Australian prisoners of war for a working 

party. 

0 As a result of that, what happened? 
1 

A ，e had a parade and 3 medical inspection 

and the fitter ones were detailed for this party. 

0 And what happened then? 

D
u
d
s
 &

 E
d

 e

 r
 

A The first party of Australians moved out 
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of the camp on the mornirg of the 28th of January 

and they continued to move out in batches of 

approximately fifty, until nine parties had gone, 

and the total prisoners of war that were mustered 

up were only 470, on the both csnps, English and 

Australian -- the-1 is all tbe^ could muster. 

0 Apart from th&t number that went out, bad 

other officers and men been renoved from your camp? 

A
 v

es, from time to tine the
,r

 had moved the 

senior officers out, later in 19
A

2 and then in 

September 1°43 the main psrt^ of officers "'ere 

move亡 to Kuching. The officers that they left were 

two captains
5
 a lieutenant, and three medical of-

ficers and three padres. 

0 And what was the general condition of the 

men who were left at Sandakan after the party moved 

out to Ranau? -

A There was 90% unfit. There was s few fit 

personnel there on general camp duty. 

0 And with regard to those men, were they 

called for working parties? 

A Yes, irrespective of their condition. If 

they could walk they v?ere sent out to work, forced 

out to work. 

C Ard what method wss adopted if the men were 
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too sick to 厂o out? 

A If the" couldn't get the required number 

ttey would have a full parade of the personnel 

left in camp and then a private Japanese soldier 

would po along and inspect thesi. If a prisoner had 

his leg tied up he would probably kick it, to see 

if the man was really sick, and a prisoner who had 

been crippled, with a walkinp stick, his walking 

stick was taken and he would go along the line and 

belt them. 

广 And if a doctor objected to a man being 

sent out
 7
 what woul d I' appen? 

A The doctor would be subjected to a belting, 

beating, from this Japanese soldier, for interfering, 

C How many deaths occurred in March of 194-5 at 

the camp? 

A AiDproyimately 2 3 1 . 

o
 T,T

as there any fusion of the British camp 

and tbe Australian camp later? 

A
 v

e s , l a t e in April,owing to the reduced 

number of prisoners, they were moved into a wired 

off area in N o . 1 camp with the Australians. 

C Fnw, coming to the of Fay, how many 

men were in the camp, on the morning of the 29th 

of May? 
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A Around about 740. There ma:, have been a 

few more. 

C And did this comprise hospital cases as 

well as walking cases? 

A Yes, the total prisoners of war. 

Q And how many of these were hospital cases? 

A There was over 400 hospitsl cases, stretcher 

cases alone. Some of tbem wero on sticks, or bones 

broken ̂  but in such a state thst the、/ had to be 

helped along or ed. And of English there was 

over a hundred. 

C What happened on the 2^th of Fay, '45? 

A At about 9:00 on the rooming of the 29th of 

May Captain TAKAKURA, accompanied by Lieuterant 
m

ATANABE and Staff Sergeant ICHIKA”’A, who was the 

OM, inspected the camp. About a quarter of an \our 

after they left, the camp we observed the old camp 

that was then unoccupied, No. 3 and No. 2 camps, 

being burned
 r
 destroyed by fire, and arounc

1

 about 

our area, the csmp ど r e e
r
 anmunition dumps being ex-

ploded • 

25 



13,365 

STICPEWICH LIRECT 

Q What happened next? 

A Round about half-past ten, Captain TAKAKURA 

called for Captain Cook and issued the order that 

we had to clear the camp within ten minutes •. He 

later extended the time to eleven o'clock, at which 

time as soon as we left the camp, the last man left 

the c a m p » w e carried the last man out of the camp, 

and some gear was left behina*«-we proceeded to burn 

huts in N o . 1 camp. 

Q Well, now, coming to five o
1

clock that night, 

what happened then? 

A At five o'clook that night，ve h&ard that 

there was required by the Japanese -- every person 

that could walk had to be ready, assembled on the 

parade ground by six o’clock. We were then in an 

area, the garden area, of No. 2 camp out in the open, 

no protection for any of the sick whatsoever. 

Police parties were eventually formed in 

groups of fifty, and about half-past seven there 

was three parties outside the gate. And along came a 

party, armed party, of Japanese soldiers who were 

halted in front of the gate.. They were addressed by 

Captain TAKAKURA, that they were to take up certain 

positions, four in front of the flank, and so forth, 

around the party, and no prisoner was to be allowed to 
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lag behind or escape. 

Q Did the parties then move away? 

A The parties tnen moved out along the road 

for a short distance and then guards took up their 

position, their marching position. And while this was 

going on the Japanese burned the rest of the buildings, 

their own buildings, their own barracks, and we pro-

ceeded on through the night. 

Q And how many troops were in these parties? 

A For the first intention, there was to be--

A How many altogether? 

A The total number left the carap was 536. 

Q 536. tid you see, at that time, what happened 

to the remainder of the troops in the camp? 

A Our position was along the road looking into 

the camp. The guards were going through the sick 

and trying to make them stand up, belting them, to 

try to get more men out the gate. After て ve moved off, 

I have never seen any of those prisoners left behind 

alive. 

Q How was your party of 536 broken up? 

A They were in groups of fifty, approximately 

fifty. On© latter party,エ"ttiink, was sixty-six. 

Q
 l

Yere you in charge of any of those parties? 

A I was in charge of No. 2 group. 



、 1 3 ^ 6 7 

•STICPMICH DIRECT 

Q And what was the state of health, .of "that" 

party? 

A All except the seven： other-s. who .. 

in the party along iwith myselX were all_jicspital-.. 

patients. 

Q Well, now, wJaen your party mov-^Q off,, where-

did go? -

A We proceeded covan through 'the--Qgricultufal• 

plot down to the main road and.out to the 12-mile 

peg — which was known as the 12-mile peg -- down to • 

the Sandakan Road. 

Q Did the other parties -movo up 'thero, too? 

A They followed on. 

Q What happened ^hen you -got to- the 12»mile p^g? 

A We were halted there and issued .with...'-- each 

party, with two 100-pound bags of rice ； each bag 

contained a hundred pounds. 

Q Then what happened? 

A We were given a piece of paper and told to 

make a nominal roll at our next stop, and we moved ofi. 

Q When did you next stop? 

A We stopped early in the morning, for about 

two hours. 

Q Was vour party cf fifty complete then? 

A No, There was about thirty-eight to forty in 
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it. 

Q What had happened to the rest? 

A They had just dropped out, and I never seen 

them again. 

Q Eid you know the state of any of the other 

parties at that time? 

A Yes. N o . 1 party was all hospital cases 

with the exception of the CO of the party, Captain 

Hislop. 

Q Did you know then the numerical strength 

at the time of this first halt? 

A Yes. At our first halt where we were issued 

the rice,エ had already lost six men. 

Q Well, now, your number of thirty-eight to 

forty men, where did they -- what happened then? 

A On that next morning we formed our nominal 

roll of personnel in each party, and give account of 

what we had then, and then we proceeded to march 

throughout the day. 

Q And when did you stop? 

A We actually stopped about 1500 hours in the 

afternoon. And after submltting a roll call we were 

told at approximately 1700 hours that we would be 

resting there for the night. 

Q What food did you have then? 
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A Only the rice that we had been issued with 

by the Japanese at the 12-mile. 

Q Well, for hov; long Uid this march continue ； 

how many days? 

A ".Ve spent twenty-six days traveling from 

Sandakan to Ranau. 

Q Hoiv many men did you hav's left in your party 

at the <ioncla..i in of that ma.:'oh； 

A My party consisted of thirtee.. 

Q Do you know what happened to Uie remaining 

thirty-se-« n*? 

A At first we surmised that they were being 

murdered along the route. But since,I have done 

investigations and have had admissions from Japanese 

guards, soldiers, that these prisoners that dropped 

out and lagged behind were murdered by them. 

TH3 FRESIDENT s We will adjourn now until 

half-past nine tomorrow morning. 

(Whereupon, at 1600, an adjourn-

ment was taken until Friday, 20 Lecember 

1舛6，at 0930.) 


